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Message

2011 has been an eventful year for the two agencies. Merged during the first few months 
of the previous year, the two bodies formalized their relationship in a first joint staff 
meeting held in November 2010. From then onwards, the staff of NCHE and MQC 
worked together to implement a common Work Programme and to synergize the common 
objectives that combine the two organizations. 

MQC was conceived as an agency to set up and maintain a national qualifications 
framework for lifelong learning and to ensure that the framework promotes an education 
system of high quality at all levels. The success of MQC can be measured by the new 
culture that underpins the system of qualifications in Malta. Today everyone speaks about 
levels of qualifications; accreditation and quality assurance of programmes and institutions; 
an increasing number of individuals are seeking MQC’s recognition of qualifications 
and industry has found in MQC a excellent partner for the design and preparation of 
occupational standards. Similarly, more professional and skills sectors are seeking MQC’s 
support to create sectoral qualifications frameworks. Two out of three legal notices tabled 
in Parliament earlier this year have been conceived and prepared by MQC. Through 
its active participation in European projects, MQC has established the capacity of an 
excellent network of local and foreign experts in the field of qualifications. The agency 
has also successfully completed two ESF projects. The first focused on vocational training 
qualifications in the context of career guidance; the second in establishing occupational 
standards in nine sector areas. These projects have built a new capacity for the 
implementation of Malta’s national qualifications framework.  

On the other hand, NCHE has been instrumental in laying down the strategic pathways 
for further and higher education (F&HE) in Malta. The ten point strategy launched in 
2009 formed the backbone of the Work Programme of the two agencies in 2011. NCHE 
has also spearheaded the design of the legal notice to regularize the accreditation, quality 
assurance and licensing of all programmes and institutions providing further and higher 
education. It has also produced invaluable statistical research on the participation of 

Dr James Calleja
Chairman of the National Commission for Higher Education 

and

Mr Joe Abela Fitzpatrick
Chairman of the Malta Qualifications Council
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Maltese students in further and higher education. It also looked at issues related to mobility, 
funding, governance, the international dimension of higher education and research of 
students undertaken in foreign and local institutions. NCHE has also managed to build a 
robust network of further and higher education institutions in Malta and this has become 
an invaluable source of statistical information on the state-of-play of F&HE in Malta. Like 
MQC, NCHE has successfully convened, on a regular basis, a number of meetings for key 
stakeholders who continue to support its work and its functions as a structure for strategic 
policy design in further and higher education.

The Board and Council members of the two agencies have also been instrumental in 
providing direction and expertise to the staff of the two organizations. In joint meetings 
held during 2011, members sought to assist the two agencies to work closely together and 
constantly supported the outcomes during the year. Their participation in the activities held 
by the two agencies gave added value to the idea that the two sets of staff members could 
achieve higher objectives if they pooled resources. As a matter of fact, it was teamwork 
between all members of staff that helped achieve the excellent results during 2011. By 
looking at the size of the team and the number of activities held during the year under 
review, one quickly concludes that it was precisely the team effort that made the difference 
and produced the deliverables. 

The support of the Ministry of Education and Employment, as well as that of various other 
private non-governmental institutions as well as employers’ associations and social partners, 
sustained the work of the two agencies throughout the year. It was always encouraging 
to see active participation in every seminar or conference organized by the two agencies. 
The discussions with stakeholders injected in our work new insights, different perspectives 
and provided a wider ownership of processes that build the structures of quality assurance, 
accreditation and recognition of qualifications, the validation of informal and non-formal 
learning, the wider use of the Malta Qualifications Framework as well as more concerted 
action by competent authorities in the mutual recognition of professional qualifications. 

The teamwork at the two merged agencies deserves our full recognition and appreciation. 
During 2011, all members of staff have given their full energy and commitment to enable 
MQC and NCHE to establish itself as one agency with one direction: that of enhancing the 
quality of further and higher education and of providing strategic direction towards levels 
of excellence and attraction to lifelong learning. 

It is expected that 2012 will also be another challenging year for MQC and NCHE in which 
the implementation of new legal frameworks will be at the core of the Work Programme. 
We are however confident that the past six years have built the capacity to meet these 
challenges. But we are also conscious of the fact that more human and financial resources 
would be needed to achieve the desired results. 
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Dr Philip von Brockdorff 
Chief Executive National Commission for Higher Education 
and the Malta Qualifications Council

This year was characterised from the start by change. Following the move of NCHE’s 
staff members to MQC’s premises at the end of 2010, in January 2011 MQC’s Chief 
Executive Officer took up the new post of Permanent Secretary within the Ministry of 
Education, Employment and the Family. Dr James Calleja was instrumental in the birth of 
the Council and even after leaving the Council in January 2011 he continued to oversee 
the administrative and technical workings of the council till I officially was handed over the 
responsibilities in November 2011. 

Unfortunately this year was also characterised by a huge turnover. Two staff members 
in management Ms Carmen Dalli Finance and Administration Manager at MQC and Ms 
Tanya Zammit, Operations Manager at NCHE took up management positions within 
the same Ministry responsible for education. Two Commission Officers, Ms Debbie Lora 
Dimech and Mr Matthew Agius also found positions elsewhere. 

There were also changes within the Board Members which saw the departure of Mr 
Joseph Cutajar who represented the Employment and Training Corporation on MQC’s 
Board.  

I would like to thank all these members for their valuable contributions to the MQC / 
NCHE. I would also like to extend this thanks to the strong team that the Council and the 
Commission currently has. I would also like to welcome the new staff who joined us in 
2011. These included Ms Svetlana Curmi, Senior Manager Administration and Finance 
as well as two clerks. 

This notwithstanding, the work of the MQC and the NCHE never faltered and continued to 
excel in its standards. Project deliverables and targets were kept and a number of ESF and 
European projects were completed successfully. Despite this difficult scenario the Council 
and the Commission has remained at the forefront in its commitment from a national and 
EU level. The synergy within this small but enthusiastic team yielded important results 
which are evidenced by the Council’s and Commission’s reputation and credibility.           

A Year in Review



MQC/NCHE Annual Report  9

The year ahead of us is just as challenging.  One of the priorities of 2012 will be the 
replacement of the vacant positions as well as the reorganisation of the Council and the 
Commission into one entity. The MQC/NCHE have very ambitious targets which can 
only be fulfilled through capacity building and effective use of EU funds, particularly the 
European Social Fund.    

2011 was also characterised with yet another change. This time there was a change in 
premises from St Lucia which had been home to the MQC for the past 4 years to Casa 
Leoni in St Venera. Here again staff tackled this move with a high level of effort, team 
spirit and maturity.

While there have been some challenges in managing human and financial resources which 
fall under two entities, I can confidently vouch that my team is working as one entity and 
pulling in the same direction. The proposed legislative merger will surely consolidate the 
existing relationships between NCHE and MQC. For all intents and purposes NCHE and 
MQC are one organisation, and under one management.   

As stated earlier, 2011 was characterised by change and the draft amendment to the 
Education Act in 2012 would further consolidate the organisational structure and set a 
clear direction to staff and stakeholders in a sector which is assuming more significance in 
Malta’s socio-economic development. 

Dr Philip von Brockdorff
Chief Executive
NCHE/MQC



10  MQC/NCHE Annual Report

Council 
Meetings 

2011

In 2011 the Board Members of the National Commission for 
Higher Education and the Malta Qualifications Council joined 
together for three official board meetings. Dr Maria Magro 
Scerri was appointed as secretary to the board in 2010 and she 
continued to perform the duties associated with this role also in 
2011.  

The first board meeting was held on the 17th January 2011. 
During this meeting the board members were updated on ESF 
1.135 project proposal ‘SPARQ – Supporting the relevance and 
quality of education in Malta’ submitted under the sixth ESF Call 
for proposals. They were also updated on the sixth forms profiling 
project by Mr Matthew Agius, Commission Officer, NCHE as 
well as on the MATSEC working group. The issue regarding the 
definition of ‘early school leavers’ was also discussed during this 
meeting. 

The second board meeting was held on the 7th March 2011. 
During this meeting the new education legislation was discussed. 
This new legislation brings new definitions to ‘further education’ 
as well as to ‘formal’, ‘informal’ and non-formal education. The 
Board also discussed the enactment of the three legal notices. 
Moreover the board members discussed capacity building for 
the new entity that would officially come into force with the 
new legislation. The Board members were also briefed about 
the Statistics report and the joint MQC/NCHE Annual Report 
2010.  

The third board meeting was held on the 3rd June 2011. During 
this meeting Prof Grace Grima briefed board mebers about the 
National Curriculum Framework. Board Members were also 
briefed about new staff members as well as staff duties lists. Other 
items on the agenda included the University protocol with MQC, 
the Qualifications Framework for Performing Arts and Sports 
Qualifications, appointment of the EQAVET National Reference 
Point, an update on the ESF 1.135 project proposal SPARQ, 
as well as an update on the new legislation and legal framework.      
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MQC/NCHE Work Plan 2011

The key targets for 2011 as outlined in the 
work plan were the following - 

(i) To build a team of efficient and committed 
individuals capable of acting as catalysts of 
change in a  ‘F &HE   culture’   of  quality   
assurance.  

(ii) To strengthen NCHE’s research and strategic 
policy structures across the 12 priority 
areas identified in F&HE Strategy 2020. 

(iii)  To set up structures to accredit, quality assure 
and license further and higher education 
programmes and public and private-partner 
institutions.

(iv) To actively participate in national and 
international activities that build resource-
capacity and promote a positive image of 
Malta’s further and higher education sectors 
including vocational training.
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Mission Statements

Malta Qualifications Council
To oversee the development of the National Qualifications 
Framework in the context of lifelong learning and to work in 
partnership with learners, employers and training and education 
providers to achieve and maintain excellence as a contribution 
towards the national effort for competitiveness. 

Malta Qualifications Council
Mr Joseph Abela Fitzpatrick Chairman
Mr Emmanuel Zahra Former Director, MCAST
Mr Joseph Farrugia  Malta Employers Association
Ms Veronica Grech  Registrar – University of Malta
Ms Charmaine Portelli  Economic Officer -Economic Policy Division
Ms Joan Micallef  Assistant Director – Director for Quality and Standards, 
 Quality  Assurance Department
Mr Vince Farrugia Director General – GRTU
Dr Philip von Brockdorff Chief Executive  (as of  1st November 2011)
Dr James Calleja  Chief Executive (January – October 2011) 

National Commission for Higher Education
Dr Philip von Brockdorff  Chairman (January – October 2011)
Dr James Calleja  Chairman (as of 1st November 2011)
Mr Alexander Manché Deputy Chairman

Members
Professor Josef Bonnici Governor General, Central Bank
Dr Jennifer Casingena Harper  Consultant, Policy Unit, MCST
Professor Grace Grima Director-General DQSE
Professor John Portelli Professor, University of Toronto 

MQC/NCHE Council Members as on 31st December 2011

National Commission for Higher Education  
To promote more and better further and higher education to 
empower all students with knowledge and skills for their future.
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Malta Qualifications Council
 

 Dr Philip von Brockdorff Chief Executive

 Mr Richard Curmi Senior Manager

 Ms Svetlana Curmi Senior Manager

 Ms Carmen Dalli Manager*

 Ms Valerie Attard Manager

 Mr Silvano Cristauro Europass Coordinator

 Ms Josephine Sultana Acting Credential Evaluator

 Ms Shirley Micallef Mutual Recognition Coordinator

 Ms Jane Nind Senior Clerk

 Ms Elaine Caruana Clerk

 Mr Alan Cauchi Clerk

 Ms Josephine Curmi Clerk

National Commission for Higher Education 

 Dr Philip von Brockdorff Chief Executive

 Ms Christine Scholz Commission Officer

 Dr Maria Theresa Magro Scerri Commission Officer

 Mr Matthew Agius Commission Officer**

 Ms Louisa Pace Kiomall Commission Officer 

Malta Qualifications Council / 
National Commission for Higher Education 

Staff List

as on 31st December 2011

* Ms Carmen Dalli was appointed Consultant, Office of the Permanent Secretary, Ministry of Education, Employment and 
the Family in May 2011 but continued to be shared with the Malta Qualifications Council up to the end of November 2011. 

**Mr Matthew Agius was posted at the Ministry of Resources and Rural Affairs (MRRA) in January 2012.   
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Raising the profile 
of the Malta Qualifications Framework

A National Awards System Referenced to the Malta Qualifications 
Framework for Lifelong Learning – A colloquium on a proposal – Malta 
3rd February 2011

The Malta Qualifications Council organised a colloquium to launch its document 
‘Classifying Qualifications – A National Awards System Referenced to the Malta 
Qualifications Framework: a proposal”. The focus of this colloquium was that of 
consultation and discussion. This colloquium was held at the Radisson, St Julians. 

The key purposes of the Awards document are to – 
- establish transparency and consistency at national level of nomenclature in the 

education sector;
- establish consistent relationship between programmes and awards within the 

national qualifications framework;
- maintain a national register of recognised and accredited awards;
- provide guidelines developed by MQC on a national awards system; 
- promote an understanding of an awards system related to all education and training 

programmes;
- promote credit accumulation and transfer thus facilitating lifelong learning;
- recognise informal and non-formal learning across the first three levels of the MQF. 

The conference was attended by 100 participants from industry and the education 
sector. The conference was opened by Mr Joseph Abela Fitzpatrick, Chairman of MQC. 
Dr James Calleja, CEO of MQC gave an overview of the proposed awards system. Dr 
James Calleja spoke about the ‘marriage’ that was brought about through the merger 
of the National Commission for Higher Education (NCHE) and the Malta Qualifications 
Council (MQC). These entities’ remit is to ensure quality in the public institutions but 
also in the private institutions. MQC is proposing an awards system which has a very 
particular objective and this is to ensure quality. This proposal helps to really ‘value all 
learning.’ This Awards System will help all learners value all their achievement. 

Mr Tom Bain was purposely invited to address this event. Mr Bain gave a critical 
analysis of the Scottish and Maltese awards systems. A number of local key stakeholders 
from industry and education were also invited to address the audience. These included 
Mr Charles Theuma, Principal, St Martin’s Institute of Information Technology, Mr 
Anthony Saliba, Deputy Principal, Malta College of Science and Technology, Ms 
Charmaine Chetcuti, Senior Manager, Employment and 
Training Corporation, Mr Joe Tanti, Chief Executive, Malta 
Business Bureau, Ms Antoinette Caruana, Malta Chamber 
Business Education Committee, Mr Adrian Mamo, 
Executive Director, Institute of Tourism Studies, Mr Joe 
Farrugia, Director-General, Malta Employers Association.     

Participants were also given the chance to forward their 
feedback, suggestions and comments on the proposals 
after the colloquium. This feedback was then collated 
and evaluated by the Malta Qualifications Council 
board.

Various participants from education and 
industry.

Mr Joe Abela Fitzpatrick during the 
opening speech.

100 participants attended the National 
Awards System colloquium. 
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Raising the profile 
of the Malta Qualifications Framework

Protocols

In 2011 the following protocols were signed between MQC and the following 
organisations. During 2011 a number of existing protocols were also updated. Dr Maria 
Magro Scerri, Commission Officer, NCHE was responsible for the necessary work on 
these protocols.     

• Beautytech Hair Fashion Academy
• Ledbury and Penn Institute of Studies
• Aesthetician and Make-Up School
• Institute of Family Therapy
• Future Focus Ltd.
• Laureate International Education
• Pauleen’s Dance Studio
• Global Institute of Theology (GIT)
• BPP Professional Education Malta
• European Institute of Education (EIE)
• Alison White Dance Studio
• Enenmalta Training Centre

Local Private Training providers during the protocol signings.  
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Secondary School Certificate and Profile

In February 2011 the Malta Qualifications Council created a new form on its website so 
that private and public organisations could register their Informal Learning. By the end of 
December 2011 over 800 organisations had registered their Informal Learning.   

A working group was also set up in October 2011 to review and propose amendments 
and updates to the current School Leaving Certificate and Profile. Ms Valerie Attard, 
Communications Manager, Malta Qualifications Council was nominated on this working 
group. The working group met four times in 2011.

Student Affairs and Higher Education Act Ad Hoc Committee
 
The Maltese government launched an initiative aimed at introducing new possibilities and 
modalities of learning in Higher Education, aimed at providing a longer higher educational 
pathway than in traditional higher education, with a view to allowing learners to study 
during late evening hours and during periods of their life in which they find it to be most 
convenient and most practical. The discussions on this initiative started in March 2011, 
when a Student Affairs and Further and Higher Education Ad Hoc Committee was set 
up by NCHE/MQC. This Working Group has concluded its workings and drawing up a 
report including recommendations shall be prepared and presented to the Minister of 
Education and stakeholders in 2012.
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National Coordination Point for the European Qualifications Framework

One of the major goals achieved in 2011 was to build on the existing information strategy 
about the Malta Qualifications Framework and the referencing process to specific target 
groups and to civil society in general. This goal was accomplished through co-financing 
from the European Commission to MQC as the National Coordination Point for the 
European Qualifications Framework. This co-financing formed part of a grant of the 
Lifelong Learning Transversal programme which was awarded in 2010. Throughout 
2010 three information seminars were held and three other seminars were held in 2011. 
Each seminar allowed space for a Question and Answer session. Various foreign speakers 
were specifically invited to deliver a presentation for each session. The deliverables 
produced through this co-financing included the production of 6 information leaflets on 
the EQF, aimed at various target audiences as well as an info-DVD on the EQF. These 
were presented to the participants.

National Coordination Point Activities 2011

7th February 2011
Audience  Trade Unions and Workers Representatives
Foreign Speakers  Mr Hermann Nehls, Confederation of German Trade Unions 

and Mr Sorin Zaharia, General Director,  UECNCFPA, 
Romania

Local Speakers Dr James Calleja, CEO, MQC and Mr Richard Curmi, Senior 
Manager, MQC

Topics  The role of Trade Unions in developing qualifications.
 The impact of short training courses on the NQF; enhancing 

lifelong learning and CPD.
Participants  60

National Coordination Point deliverables 
to promote the European Qualifications 
Framework.

Mr Sorin Zaharia addressing the 
audience.

Dr James Calleja delivering a 
presentation on the NQF.  
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13th April 2011  
Audience High Education, Officials, Education Policy Makers, 

Education Officers, Directors of Education, College 
Principals, Heads of Schools and other educational staff 
involved in public, private and church compulsory education.  

Foreign Speaker  Ms Marta Santanicchia, ISFOL
Local Speakers  Mr Richard Curmi, Senior Manager MQC and Dr Suzanne 

Gatt, University of Malta.  
Topics  The Inclusion of Compulsory Education in Qualifications 

Frameworks 
 Recognising all forms of learning: validating non-academic 

aspects of compulsory education
Participants 50

20th April 2011
Audience  Employers and Human Resources Personnel 
Foreign Speaker  Dr Jim Murray, National Qualifications Authority, Ireland
Local Speakers  Dr James Calleja, CEO MQC and Mr Richard Curmi, Senior 

Manager, MQC
Topics  Developments in Qualifications at a European level and 

impact on employees: experience in Ireland
 Valuing all Learning: investing in our workers
Participants  40

From Left – Mr Richard Curmi, Dr 
James Calleja and Dr Jim Murray.

Around 40 participants attended this seminar.
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National Coordination Point Grant 2012

The Malta Qualifications Council submitted the NCP Proposal for a 2012 Grant. This 
grant provides financial support for activities carried out in 2012 to implement the 
Recommendation of the European Parliament and the Council of 23 April 2008. The 
grant forms part of the Lifelong Learning Programme – Transversal Programme. In 
December 2012 confirmation was received from the Commission that this grant was 
awarded to the Council.   

The activities proposed in this grant application include the following – 
1) Publicity Campaign
2) Update and Dissemination of the Referencing Document 
3) Setting Up and Update of a National Qualifications and Recognised Awarding 

Bodies Database 
4) Launch of National Qualifications and Recognised Awarding Bodies Database 
5) Awards System Launch Seminar 
6) European Qualifications Framework: A Colloquium on Challenging 

Implementation Obstacles 
7) Capacity-Building through Peer-Learning Opportunities Abroad 

INLearning Final Project Meeting and Conference 
Validating Learning for an Inclusive Society, The Palace, Sliema
21st January 2011 

There are quite a number of workers within the European labour market who possess 
no official qualifications from formal institutions, yet have acquired knowledge, skills 
and competences as a result of informal and non-formal learning, often through work 
experience. However being competent yet unqualified, these people run the risk of being 
excluded from the workforce due to lack of formal recognition and also limit themselves 
from progressing within the European Qualifications Framework, as part of a lifelong 
learning process.
 
The INLearning project’s main aim is to promote social inclusion through developing a 
methodology framework for the validation of informal and nonformal learning, through 
a portfolio pen drive ‘Lifepass’, which will be applicable across different sectors and may 
be utilized across Europe.

The LifePass pendrive which contains the 
lifepass portfolio tool. 

The foreign partners who attended the 
final project meeting and conference.
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The methodological tool has now been developed and is being tried and tested in a 
number of jobs in different sectors that will be considered in this project, namely, printing, 
agribusiness, construction, hospitality, transport, security, and childcare. The aim of 
introducing this tool is to reduce inequalities and promote social inclusion among those 
who do not possess any formal qualifications within National and European Qualifications 
Frameworks. 

The main objective of this Final Conference was to mark the end the INLearning project 
and to disseminate and discuss the work done and outputs produced during the project. 
The main deliverable of this project, the Lifepass e-portfolio was also officially launched 
during this conference. Over 100 participants attended this conference including the 
foreign project partners.  

Around 100 participants attended this 
conference.

The foreign partners and MQC staff 
during the final project meeting. 
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NQF Inclusive Final Conference
Student House, Malta College of Arts, Science and Technology, Malta
31st October 2011

The Malta Qualifications Council in collaboration with MCAST organized a final 
information seminar on the NQF Inclusive LdV project – Accreditation and Certification 
of basic vocational education for disadvantaged people via NQF.   The project deliverables 
were presented during the seminar.  The seminar was held at the Students’ House, 
MCAST, Corradino Hill Paola on Monday 31st October, 2011.  

Unfortunately, people with learning disabilities and individuals with low academic 
achievement tend to join basic vocational training courses where they acquire knowledge, 
skills and competences which are however not officially accredited.  The aim of this project 
was to develop a model for accreditation and certification of basic vocational training 
courses specifically designed for people with specific needs and learning disabilities.  
Through an accredited course and a recognized certificate, potential employers would 
have a clear picture of the abilities and skills possessed by the potential employee.   Indeed 
this project has developed training courses in a learning outcomes approach and written 
in an easy to read method.  A catalogue of standards has also been published with the 
aim of guiding entities in developing courses based on a learning outcomes approach and 
fulfilling the criteria stipulated as for these courses to be accredited and pegged to the 
European Qualifications Framework.

The project consortium was made up of MCAST, the Malta Qualifications Council, Chance 
B - Austria, European Association of Service Providers for Persons with Disabilities 
(EASPD), Nordic Centre for Welfare and Social Issues and the Varstveno delovni center 
Polz Maribor – Slovenia. 
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EQAVET National Conference 
29th November 2011

This National Conference was organised together with the EQAVET Second Partners 
meeting so that the foreign project partners who attended the second partners project 
meeting could also attend the conference. The second partners meeting was held on the 
28th  November 2011 and this meeting was hosted by the Institute of Tourism Studies, 
one of the local project partners. 

The National Conference was held at the Corinthia Hotel, St Julians on the 29th November 
2011. Various local stakeholders from the field of industry and education were invited to 
this conference. During this conference participants were also given a conference folder 
with the EQAVET project printed material. Mr Kim Faurschou the project’s external 
evaluator was present for both the second partner’s meeting as well as for the conference. 
The National Conference incorported a number of workshops which were led by the 
various project partners.  

Over 100 participants attended the National Conference.    

Around 100 participants attended the 
EQAVET Conference.

One of the workshops during the 
EQAVET Conference
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ECVET National Conference
8th November 2011

The Malta Qualifications Council organised the ECVET (European Credit System for 
Vocational Education and Training) National Conference. The conference was held at the 
Westin Dragonara Resort, St Julians. 

This conference was held back-to-back with the second partners’ meeting so that the 
foreign project partners who attended this meeting could also attend this national 
conference.

Over 100 participants from the field of education attended this conference. The conference 
also incorporated a number of workshops which were led by the various project partners.  

From Left – Mr Matthew Agius, Ms 
Louisa Pace Kiomall, Dr Philip von 
Brockdorff, Dr Maria Magro Scerri and 
Mr Richard Curmi.

100 participants attended this conference.

One of the workshops during the ECVET Conference.
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In 2011 the NCHE published the third edition of the Annual Further 
and Higher Education Statistics Report, which is aimed at addressing all 
stakeholders involved in the education sector. It collates factual information 
on the situation of the Further and Higher education sector in Malta, and 
benchmarks national statistics results with international facts. This report 
therefore provides an overall picture on this particular sector. It gives a 
very interesting insight on demographic facts for this sector, and explores 
detailed information on the different Further and Higher educational courses 
provided in Malta. 

Some of the main highlights of this report reveal that post-secondary 
vocational education is becoming more attractive than post-secondary 
academic education, where the participation rates of full-time students 
enrolled within postsecondary (vocational) courses have acceded that of 
full-time (academic) courses; there has been a significant increase in the 
participation rate of 17 year olds from 60% in 2009 to 73% in the year 
2010, which is attributable to higher participation rates at MCAST; for the 
first time 63 students were awarded a vocational Bachelor’s Degree at MQF 
Level 6; participation rate of 19 year olds in further and higher education as 
at the 31st of March 2010 was that of 56%; the year 2010 registered  the 
highest participation rate of tertiary students; the majority of tertiary students 

tend to choose the Social Science, Business and Law fields; and that the rates of graduates 
in Malta at MQF Levels 6, 7, 8 (ISCED 5-6) in Mathematics, Science, and Technology, 
aged between 20-29 years are still relatively low when compared to the EU-27. 

There has been an increase in the response rate of institutions in this survey where 
overall, 36 institutions being state, state-dependent, and independent provided their 
timely contribution to this research.  This shows that policy processes are becoming more 
incremental as different stakeholders such as student representatives, heads of institutions, 
teachers and staff, parents, service providers, and employers, are showing more enthusiasm 
to contribute to this sector. This is a very encouraging sign of development, and triggers 
authorities to proceed successfully with structured dialogue and consultation processes 
with different stakeholders. 

The NCHE believes that the only way for a better and an improved educational system 
derives from full consultation with different interested and direct stakeholders. These 
can all provide the Commission with sufficient information and ideas on how Malta can 
improve the services in this sector and adopt a more student-centered approach.

This research was compiled thanks to a number of private and public stakeholders. Ms 
Louisa Pace Kiomall NCHE Commission Officer, was responsible for all areas of research 
leading up to the publication of the report. 

NCHE Annual Further 
and Higher Education Statistics Research
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NCHE Annual Further 
and Higher Education Statistics Research

“common tools for the 

development of NQF 

and SQF, together 

with the project 

website, the guide for 

the development and 

implementation of 

NQF’s and SQF’s in the 

respective countries and 

the quality plan were all 

discussed”

Leonardo Da Vinci, Grundtvig, ECVET, EQAVET, KA1-ECET, 
KA4 Projects Meeting
Brussels – 27-28 January 2011

The main aim of this plenary meeting was to:

• Enable project co-ordinators to meet each other, as well as to meet colleagues from 
the Agency responsible for their projects, representatives from the Commission 
dealing with relevant policy aspects, and representatives from the National 
Agencies;

• Hear about good practices from ongoing and past projects, and receive practical 
tips for the newly commenced projects;

• And to be informed about the procedures and rules to be followed for financial and 
contractual management and ask questions.

The main themes explored during the conference include: The Project Life Cycle and 
Administrative Issues; Financial Management: ‘hands on’; Project Evaluation; and 
Dissemination and Exploitation.

This meeting was attended by Ms Louisa Pace Kiomall, Commission Officer, NCHE and 
Ms Carmen Dalli, Finance and Administration Manager, MQC.   

EQF Spread Second Partners Meeting
(Proposals for the implementation and development of the Sectorial 
and National Qualifications Frameworks) 
Madrid, Spain – 10-11 February 2011

The main objective of the second partners’ meeting was to go through the results 
achieved so far and also delve into Work Package 2 – the Analysis and description of 
qualifications for the development of NQF and SQF.  The meeting was held on two days 
and dealt with the current situation of the work packages, presentations delivered by 
all the project consortium regarding the national reports prepared, a discussion about 
the best-fit method for describing qualifications and the development of an international 
inventory of occupations based on learning outcomes.  The design of common tools for 
the development of NQF and SQF, together with the project website, the guide for the 
development and implementation of NQF’s and SQF’s in the respective countries and the 
quality plan (administrative and financial) were all discussed on the last day of the meeting. 

MQC was represented by Mr Richard Curmi, Senior Manager.  The meeting was also 
attended by IFES, Incual and Formacion 2020 from Spain, Deplannenmakers from 
the Netherlands, Europroject from Bulgaria, Procesy from Poland and John Konrad 
Associates from Spain.

Participation in European Initiatives on Vocational 
Education and Training and Higher Education
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8th Meeting of the EQF Advisory Group
Brussels, 16-17 February 2011

The purpose of this 8th EQF Advisory Group meeting was to discuss: the developments in 
European cooperation in the field of education and training; national developments related 
to the implementation of the EQF; EQF portal developments; national approaches towards 
referencing of new certificates to the EQF by 2012; the future of peer learning activities 
on learning outcomes; the proposal for the structure and concept of the Commission staff 
working paper of the implementation of EQF in 2011; the state of play and Commission 
initiative on the validation of non-formal and informal learning; the relevant ESCO 
developments; developments in external policy cooperation related the EQF; the review 
of the directive on the recognition of professional qualifications (2005/36); and discuss 
the role of national qualifications frameworks supporting the recognition of qualifications.

Malta was represented by Mr Matthew Agius, Commission Officer, NCHE and EQF 
Advisory Group Alternate Member. 

Learning Outcomes Group Seminar
Brussels – 2-3 March 2011

The main objectives of this meeting were to have an exchange of views on developments 
in the validation of learning outcomes gained outside of formal settings taking account the 
results of the updated European Inventory of validation policies and practices. Another 
objective was for the member states to draw on these developments, reflect on practical 
measures at national/regional and EU level that could be taken into account in the 
preparation of a future Council Recommendation on the promotion and validation of 
non-formal and informal learning.   

Mr Richard Curmi, Senior Manager, MQC, attended this peer learning activity.

European Credit for Vocational Education and Training (ECVET) 
Steering Committee Members: Users’ Group Meeting
Brussels – 7-8 March 2011

This meeting was organised by the European Commission. Items on the agenda included the 
final online version of FAQ’s, the draft guide on ECVET mobility, the paper on the ECVET 
label, the CEDEFOP monitoring activity 2011, the ‘reflection group’ on European tools, the 
ECVET annual forum and the ECVET users group meetings. The European Commission 
presented the document on ECVET mobility that addresses mainly stakeholders from 
competent institutions, chambers, VET providers and persons responsible for promoting 
mobility. This document seeks to reach advisers and professionals with experience in 
mobility to encourages them to cope with ECVET mobility. 

This Steering Committee meeting was attended by Ms Louisa Pace Kiomall, Commission 
Officer, National Commission for Higher Education. 

BFUG Information and Promotion Network Meeting
Brussels – 11 March 2011

The purpose of this BFUG meeting was to evaluate the existing initiatives promoting the 
EHEA which are already in place in EU Countries as well as to identify and set targets for 
the upcoming year in order to achieve higher results in creating international awareness 
of the EHEA.

This meeting was attended by Ms Debbie Lora Dimech, Commission Officer, NCHE. 

“The European 

Commission presented 

the document on ECVET 

mobility that addresses 

mainly stakeholders from 

competent institutions, 

chambers, VET providers 

and persons responsible 

for promoting mobility.”
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3rd European Credit System for Vocational Education and Training (ECVET)
Users’ Group Members: Peer Learning Workshop for European Member 
States representatives engaged in the ECVET project
Prague – 14-16 March 2011

The ECVET Users Group supports Member States with a view to coordination and 
monitoring mechanisms and reporting, also through the use of working group updates 
especially on tools and instruments. The primary aim of this Peer Learning 3rd ECVET 
Users’ Group Workshop for European States representatives was:

• To provide support to all participants representing different member states with 
useful tactics, skills and tools which can be adopted for the effective promotion of 
their ECVET Recommendation in their country;

• To share and exchange expertise with other representatives of the Member States 
on ECVET implementation;

• To share, develop, and adapt tools and methods to facilitate the implementation;

• To network between members of the ECVET Users’ Group;

• And to contribute to the European cooperation process for ECVET.

The workshop was the third in a sequence of six workshops which aim to help and 
support all participants from each member state in their role as ECVET promoters. 
Sixty participants from different EU member states participated in this workshop. This 
workshop was organized by the European Commission. Malta was represented by Ms 
Louisa Pace Kiomall and Mr Matthew Agius, Commission Officers, NCHE.  

Group of Coordinator 
for the Recognition of Professional Qualifications Meeting
Brussels - 18 March 2011

This meeting focused on the European Professional Card. The Mutual Recognition 
Coordinators were also asked to provide their feedback on the Code of Conduct and how 
this Code of Conduct was accepted by the Designated Authorities. The overall comments 
were that this Code of Conduct should be made more visible and Mutual Recognition 
Coordinators should encourage the respective Designated Authorities to give this Code 
more visibility such as by uploading this Code of Conduct on their respective websites. 
This meeting also focused on the Regulated Professions Database. The statistics in this 
database give an accurate picture on mobility and how the recognition system established 
at EU level is implemented in each Member State. 

Other items on the agenda included the Acquired Rights provisions of  Directive 2005/36/
EC and the future strategy of the Internal Market Information System (IMI). IMI is an IT-
based information network that enables national, regional and local authorities in the 
European Union Member States (as well as in Norway, Iceland and Liechtenstein) to 
communicate quickly and easily with their counterparts in other countries. It was developed 
by the European Commission in close cooperation with Member States.  This meeting 
was attended by Ms Shirley Micallef, Mutual Recognition Coordinator. 
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UNICA Bologna National Agencies Seminar
Brussels – 21 March 2011

The task of UNICA is to promote excellence and transparency in the field of Higher 
Education. Items on this seminar’s agenda included an assessment of the ECTS and the 
Diploma Supplement, the role of Bologna, the Europe 2020 strategy, youth on the move 
and quality frameworks.    

This seminar also included a number of workshops. The themes discussed during these 
workshops were the following – 

• Internationalization Strategies and Learning Mobility 

• Promoting Learning Mobility: Multipliers of Mobility 

• Placements

• Learning Mobility and the Role of the Experts

• Recognition and Joint Degrees

This meeting was attended by Ms Debbie Lora Dimech, Commission officer, NCHE, Mr 
Karl Mintoff, Programme Officer, European Union Programmes Agency and Ms Bernie 
Mizzi, Chancellor, University of Malta.     

CO.L.O.R Project First Partners Meeting
Naples, Italy – 24-25 March 2011

The CO.L.O.R (COmpetency and Learning Outcomes Recognition for migrants) project 
aims at satisfying specific requirements related to competency valorisation and LO 
recognition for migrants. Failure to recognize their work experience and LO not only 
makes it difficult for employers to appreciate what migrants can offer, but also qualifications 
and relevant competences remain unused and risk devaluing.

CO.L.O.R focuses on two specific sectors: healthcare and construction, and on qualifications 
(based on both national and regional standards) at the EQF level 3, which represents the 
“basic” level of qualifications (the first “achievement” in terms of competency) to enter the 
Italian labour market. CO.L.O.R will put into practice ECVET mechanisms, in particular 
to:

• adapt and test qualifications (in terms of Learning Outcomes) on the basis of shared 
and tested transferable methods;

• define assessment, validation and recognition processes;

• develop testing activities (including a Repertory of case studies) to assess the 
transferability of the recognition processes in a trans-sectoral dimension;

• develop a Memorandum of Understanding on ECVET-related issues among the 
participating Italian Regions aimed at promoting a wider use of the project results 
and transfer of its results into mainstream policies.

• To ensure sustainability beyond the project life cycle, dedicated networking activities 
will be implemented to extend the results to other Regions, promoting shared 
decision-making and initiatives for the ECVET national implementation.
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The expected impact will be in terms of innovative and concrete opportunities of 
Learning Outcomes recognition. This exercise of designing and adapting national and 
regional qualifications to the Learning Outcomes approach aims at being transferred 
to other  sectors/context/levels, while at the same time ensuring coherence with the 
overall system. The commitment of the competent ECVET institutions involved in the 
project will maximise its impact at regional and national level. The Regional Agencies’ 
active involvement will facilitate the successful implementation of ECVET processes. All 
participating Regions have conducted previous studies in the specific domain and have 
identified qualifications in the relevant sectors. The transnational partnership will provide 
expert advice as consultant and observer.

Mr Richard Curmi, Senior Manager, MQC attended the first partners’ meeting in Naples 
and delivered a presentation during the launch conference held in Naples, Italy.  The project 
consortium includes: ARLAS Campania Region (Grant beneficiary); ISFOL (Coordinator); 
Latium Region; Piedmont Region; Tuscany Region; Basilicata Region (Associate partner); 
Malta Qualifications Council – Malta; National Centre for TVET Development – Romania; 
Scottish Credit and Qualifications Framework – Scotland. 

TEMPUS 20th Anniversary Conference and the NTO-NCP Meeting
Belgrade, Serbia -  29-31 March 2011

The purpose of this conference was to review and disseminate the achievements of the 
CION TEMPUS Programme since its conception in 1990 and share information on future 
developments. The NTO-NCP Meeting was aimed to coordinate the current state-of-play 
of the TEMPUS IV Call and relevant developments. The TEMPUS IV programme saw 
some new elements, namely:

• National and Regional Priorities

• Reinforcing Structural Elements

• More partners involved and increase in CION grants

• Reinforced regional cooperation (priority given to multi-country projects)

• Host from partner countries can apply directly and receive grants

• Increase in role of Ministries of Education in priority setting and during consultation 
on projects to be funded

The NTO-NCP Meeting provided a platform for sharing various best practices and 
promoted the positive outcomes of TEMPUS projects both within the EU member states 
and partner countries. The programme is aimed towards substantially creating strategic 
partnerships and HEI networks beyond the EU. Therefore most of the structural benefits 
are intended to aid the partner country for further cooperation through these projects. 
More promotion of the programme needs to be in place for the next round in order to 
convince academics and Higher Education Institutions to participate.

This conference and meeting were attended by Mr Matthew Agius, Commission Officer, 
NCHE. 
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Peer Learning Activity 
“Profiling of higher education institutions in changing landscapes 
– diversity and governance in light of recent mergers and other changes”
Oslo – 20 March - 1 April 2011

This was a Peer Learning Activity in the Framework of the Thematic Working Group 
on the Modernisation of Higher Education of the European Union. Items on the agenda 
included various presentations on the role of Government – addressing critical factors 
for policy change, the role of the HEI – addressing the opportunities and constraints 
for strategic policy implementation and the influence of stakeholder interest on diversity. 
NCHE was represented for this meeting by Ms Christine Scholz, Commission Officer, 
NCHE.  

Commission Workshop 
on the Minimum Training Requirements for Pharmacy
Brussels – 18 April 2011

The purpose of this workshop was to gather experts who are in the position to address 
more rigorously questions relating to the training leading to access to the professions 
benefitting from automatic recognition under Directive 2005/36/EC.

Malta was represented for this workshop by Ms Shirley Micallef, Mutual Recognition 
Coordinator, MQC and Prof Lilian Azzopardi Head of the Department of Pharmacy, 
University of Malta.  

Commission Workshop 
on the Minimum Training Requirements for Veterinary Surgeons
Brussels - 18 April 2011

The purpose of the workshop is to gather experts who are in the position to address more 
rigorously questions relating to the training leading to access to the professions benefitting 
from automatic recognition under Directive 2005/36/EC.

Malta was represented for this meeting by Ms Shirley Micallef, Mutual Recognition 
Coordinator, MQC  and  Dr Roberto Balbo Chairman of the Council for Veterinary 
Surgeons.

Commission Workshops 
on the Minimum Training Requirements Architects
Brussels - 19 April 2011

The purpose of this workshop was primarily to gather experts who are in the position 
to address more rigorously questions relating to the training leading to access to the 
professions benefitting from automatic recognition under Directive 2005/36/EC. 

Malta was represented for this workshop by Ms Shirley Micallef, Mutual Recognition 
Coordinator, MQC, Alex Torpiano Dean of the Faculty of Architecture, University of 
Malta, and Perit David Pace Kamra tal-Periti.
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Workshop of the Minimum Training Requirements 
Doctors and Dentists
6 May 2011

The purpose of this workshop on the minimum training requirements was to address 
questions relating to the training leading to access to the professions of doctors and 
dentists who benefit from automatic recognition and also to gather Member States experts’ 
opinions on the need to review those requirements.

Malta was represented for this workshop by Ms Shirley Micallef, Mutual Recognition 
Coordinator, MQC, Dr Herbert Messina Ferrante Medical Council representing Dentists 
and Dr Anton Grech Medical Council representing Doctors. 

ECVET Users Group Meeting
Brussels – 11 May 2011

The aims and objectives of the ECVET Users’ Group Meeting were:

• To inform the participants who are trying to implement the ECVET system in 
their Member State on the activities, seminars, and conferences  which are to be 
organized by the ECVET-Team in relation to the promotion and the implementation 
of the ECVET in Europe which are to be organized in the second semester;

• To inform the Member State on the European VET Policy updates;

• To finalise the reflection paper on the ECVET label which was initially discussed by 
the ECVET steering committee members on March 8th 2011;

• To  validate the ECVET Mobility Guide after being initially discussed by the steering 
committee on March 8th 2011;

• To be informed on the latest ECVET guidebooks/ documents available;

• To introduce CEDEFOP state of play in monitoring ECVET;

• To introduce the GHK as a monitoring entity which will also be monitoring the eight 
new ECVET projects which were selected in 2010;

• To inform all participants on the importance of making the National Reference 
Points of ECVET and EQAVET of each respective Member State more visible;

• To introduce CEDEFOP’s paper on the results of the study on EUROPASS, ECVET, 
and EQF for documentation, validation, and certification of learning outcomes;

• And to be informed about the EQF/NQF, and EQAVET state of play.
 
This meeting was organised by the European Commission and was attended by Ms Louisa 
Pace Kiomall, Commission Officer, NCHE. 
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Erasmus Mundus Workshop on Employability
Leuven, Belgium – 10 -11 May 2011

This Erasmus Mundus Workshop focused on employability of Erasmus Mundus 
programmes and graduates directed at Erasmus Mundus Master Courses, Joint Doctorate 
Consortia and EM Attractiveness Projects (Action 03) in order to improve the quality of 
Erasmus Mundus programmes.
The workshop included four working groups which discussed different issues related to 
fostering employability in Erasmus Mundus programmes. These were the - 

• Promotion of Erasmus Mundus programme towards employers

• Involvement of employers in EM programme development

• Networking with students and graduates

• Sustainability

This workshop was part of a series of workshops directed at Erasmus Mundus Master 
Courses, Joint Doctorate Consortia and EM Attractiveness Projects (Action 03) aimed 
at discussing key issues such as employability, recognition of degrees and joint degrees 
and the sustainability of Erasmus Mundus programmes, which contribute to the quality 
provision of these programmes. Erasmus Mundus National Structures were invited to 
indicate one workshop of their choice, they would like to participate in. Malta indicated 
interest in participating in this workshop and was invited to participate in it. The workshop 
was attended by Ms Christine Scholz, Commission Officer, NCHE.  

Erasmus Mundus National Structures Meeting
Brussels - 12 May 2011

During this meeting Erasmus Mundus members were given an update on the report of 
the Employability Cluster workshop which was held on the 10-11 May 2011. They were 
also updated on other cluster projects (EACEA). Other items on the agenda included 
the 2011 call for proposals and the results of the 2011 scholarship selection. Members 
were also updated on the Impact Assessment and consultation on the new generation of 
programmes post-2013 (EACEA).

This meeting was attended by Ms Christine Scholz, Commission Officer NCHE and 
Erasmus Mundus National Structure alternate member.

Golf Stand Project – European Occupational Standards for Golf 
2nd Full Partners Meeting
Amsterdam – 11-13 May 2011

This second partner meeting mainly focused on the finalisation of the outcomes of Work 
Package 4 (Occupational Map and Occupational Descriptions), the development of the 
content of the Functional Map (Work Package 5) and the start of the work on Work 
Package 6 with the objective to produce a Competence Framework for Golf Professionals.

This meeting was attended by representatives from all Project Partners. The external 
evaluator was also present on the first day of the meeting. 

MQC was represented by Ms Valerie Attard, Communications Manager.  
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NQF Inclusive 
Accreditation and Certification of basic vocational education for 
disadvantaged people via NQF - 4th International Project Meeting
Graz, Austra - 23.-24 May 2011

The purpose of this meeting was mainly to go through the deliverables of the project.  
The meeting was attended by Mr Richard Curmi, Senior Manager, MQC and Mr John 
Bartolo from MCAST, together with Ms Marion Bock, the project coordinator.  The 
project partners discussed and agreed upon what the final results should include.  It was 
agreed that the handbook should include a catalogue of standards defining occupations for 
EQF levels 1 and 2 in the considered sectors in a learning outcomes approach, a model 
for the classification of learning outcomes in the national frameworks represented by the 
project consortium and also a model for assessment procedure and finally a certificate 
indicating the achievements of the target group assessed.

The Hungarian Presidency Conference 
on the European Qualifications Framework (EQF)
Budapest - 25-26 May 2011

The primary aims of this conference were to overview the implementation of the EQF 
recommendation, to undertake stocktaking, evaluate progress and draw lessons from 
experiences and the process of referencing. At the same time it also aimed at identifying 
further challenges, outlining further tasks and offering new incentives to EQF – NQF 
developments.

The conference included five parallel workshops. The themes of these workshops were -  
• Promoting trust towards the EQF: Trust towards and ownership of national 

referencing process; Trust towards the results of the referencing process abroad

• The Impact of NQFs and the Learning Outcomes approach: Teaching, Training 
and Facilitating Learning; The role of Quality Assurance in implementing Learning 
Outcomes-based approach at providers’ level 

• The Qualifications Framework as a policy instrument for Lifelong Learning: NQF as 
a tool in recognising prior learning; NQF as a tool for lifelong guidance

• NQFs as communication tools. How Qualifications Frameworks can promote 
dialogue and cooperation: Qualifications Frameworks as a communication tool 
between stakeholders from different education and training subsectors; Qualifications 
Frameworks as a communication tool between stakeholders in education and labour 
markets

• External dimensions of the EQF and potential of policy cooperation with other 
regions: The evolution of regional Qualifications Frameworks; How can regional 
Qualifications Frameworks support mobility between different regions?

This conference provided a good opportunity for sharing of experiences and understanding 
different processes of implementation of the EQF and setting up of NQFs in different 
countries. One could identify common problems which cannot be easily solved by 
common solutions. The Learning Outcomes based approach is spurring various debates 
when applied in practice yet is serving both for comparability as well as modernisation of 
education. The development of the EQF has given space to greater cooperation and fora 
of exchange between all stakeholders involved. Major themes which relate to the Maltese 
experience are those of the inclusion of transversal skills in Learning Outcomes and 
qualifications respectively, addressing lower levels, reviewing the theory versus practice of 
Learning Outcomes and considering sectoral needs. 
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The referencing processes however should not be seen as complete job but rather parts 
of ongoing processes in view of a constantly moving target. Malta was represented by 
Mr Matthew Agius, Commission Officer, NCHE and Mr Mario Azzopardi, Director, 
Directorate for Lifelong Learning.  

10th EQF Advisory Group Meeting and Conference
Budapest – 26 May 2011

The primary aims of this brief meeting of the EQF Advisory Group were to report on 
European and national developments related to the implementation of the EQF and to act 
as a follow-up discussion to the Hungarian Presidency Conference. However, the central 
aim of the meeting was to hold the presentation and discussion of the Danish National 
Referencing Report. This was carried out by representatives from CEDEFOP. 

Malta was represented by Mr Matthew Agius, Commission Officer, NCHE and Alternate 
Member to EQF AG. 

Group of Coordinator for the Recognition of Professional Qualifications
Brussels – 30 May 2011

The main objective of this meeting was to discuss possible common conclusions from 
the workshops held with the sectoral professions with regards to the minimum training 
requirements. This meeting also focused on the European Professional Card. and on the 
Internal Market Information System (IMI). 

Other items on the agenda included the mutual recognition agreements with Canada and 
the accession of Croatia to the European Union. This meeting was attended by Ms Shirley 
Micallef, Mutual Recognition Coordinator, MQC. 

Erasmus Mundus National Structure (EMNS) Bridge-Naric Project Meeting
Madrid – 6-7 June 2011

Crossing the bridge between Erasmus Mundus National Structures and NARIC centres is 
a project funded in the framework of Action 3 of the Erasmus Mundus Programme. The 
main purpose of this project is to strengthen cooperation among the EMNS and NARIC, 
ENIC and MERIC offices. This meeting was hosted by the Spanish Ministry of Education 
in Madrid.

This meeting was attended by Ms Shirely Micallef, Mutual Recognition Coordinator, MQC. 
 
ECVET Pilot Projects 2011-2014 1st Introductory Meeting
Brussels – 7 June 2011

The purpose of this ECVET Introductory Meeting was to act as an opportunity to reinforce 
the understanding of the objectives set for this generation of pilot projects (selected in the 
year 2010) and the expectations of the CION regarding the outcomes. This meeting also 
allowed the partners to introduce the projects, projects’ approaches and concepts were 
also discussed. This meeting also defined the priorities for the cooperation among the pilot 
projects, between the pilot projects and GHK Consulting and the methods to be used. The 
work programme for the first year was also agreed upon including dates and topics for the 
next workshops organised by the GHK Consulting.

Ms Louisa Pace Kiomall and Mr Matthew Agius, Commission Officers NCHE attended 
this meeting.  
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Annual Forum 2011 of the European ECVET Network 
“Objective 2012: Towards necessary conditions 
for ECVET implementation” 
Madrid, 9 June 2011

This annual ECVET forum is the year major event dedicated to cooperation, discussion 
and reflection activity about ECVET at a European Level. Overall, this was the second 
annual ECVET forum which has been organised. The main objective of the forum was to 
highlight the major issues and challenges to which VET systems will have to tackle in order 
to create, by 2012, the necessary conditions for ECVET implementation in accordance 
with the Recommendation. 

Various solutions and proposals emerged from examples of projects (pilot, national and 
mobility), of strategies in progress throughout Europe, of networks in development. This 
forum also discussed concrete examples and illustrations to help participants to set up 
their own strategies and to support debates. This conference was in fact, based on plenary 
speeches and expert views, concrete examples, active question and answer sessions, and 
active peer learning and sharing experiences workshops.

During this conference the ECVET team provided the participants with several 
information material such as the briefing note on the EUROPASS, the ECVET Users’ 
Guide for Geographical Mobility, and the working paper No 10. titled “The Development 
of ECVET in Europe”. The ECVET Team also provided participants with the official 
poster for ECVET which is used for ECVET across Europe. This poster features the 
main key words of the ECVET initiative, namely: Learning Outcomes, Credits, Transfer, 
Recognition, Competences, and Experience. This annual conference was attended by 
representatives from different member states who are directly engaged in the project 
coordination of ECVET projects in their respective country, region, or municipality. This 
forum was attended by Ms Louisa Pace Kiomall, Commission Officer, NCHE.  

“The annual ECVET 

forum is the year major 

event dedicated to 

cooperation, discussion 

and reflection activity 

about ECVET at a 

European Level.”
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Eurostudent IV Final Conference
Copenhagen – 15-16 June 2011

The main purpose of this annual conference was to invite all those member states who 
participated in the fourth round of the Eurostudent IV survey/project to be present during 
the launch of the new European data on the social dimension of higher education in 
Europe.   Hence, the aim was to provide an insightful and an interactive review of the 
new results from the Eurostudent IV data set.  This was followed by public and stakeholder 
debates on higher education in the light of Eurostudent.

The key findings covered the following themes – 

• The theme of Transition into Higher Education focuses on: transition routes 
into higher education; labour market experience prior to entry; time delay before 
entering higher education; and interruptions during educational pathway.

• The theme of Social make-up of National Student Populations focuses 
on: share of students from low education backgrounds; under representation by 
parent’s education; students from low education backgrounds by transition route 
and study modes; alternative measure “blue collar”; and alternative measure “social 
standing”.

• The theme of Characteristics of National Student Populations focuses 
on: general age profile; age profile of delayed transition students; age profile of 
de facto part-time students; age profile and social background; gender profile by 
programme and transition route; and students with children.

• The theme on Types and modes of study focuses on: participation in 
Bachelor programmes; bachelor courses by subject area; participation in Masters 
and remaining national programmes; full- and part time status; differences between 
status and study intensity; and centrality of studies.

• The theme on Time Budget for Studies and Employment focuses on: 
students’ overall time budget; composition of time budget; trade-off between regular 
employment and studying; employment rate of students; and satisfaction with 
overall time budget.

• The theme on Students’ Resources focuses on: shares of private and public 
funding; main sources of student income; income difference by gender; income 
difference by study programme; distribution of student income; student income by 
social background; and earnings by social background.

• The theme on Students’ Expenses focuses on: living costs and study- related 
costs; accommodation costs; fees to higher education institutions; student’s key 
expenditure; assessment of the sufficiency of funding; and assessment by income 
source.

• The theme on Housing Situation focuses on: dominant form of housing; form 
of housing by age; supply to student halls; form of housing by size of study location; 
form of housing by social background; overall satisfaction with form of housing; and 
students’ travel time.

• The theme on Student Mobility then focuses on: potential foreign enrolment 
rates; selectivity of foreign enrolment; obstacles to foreign enrolment; sources of 
funding for enrolment abroad; organisation of enrolment abroad; foreign language 
proficiency; and assessment of foreign enrolment phases.

This conference was attended by Ms Louisa Pace Kiomall, Commission Officer, NCHE. 
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Intermediate Project Meeting of the NQF-SQF Project: 
Common Grounds for referencing NQFs and SQFs to the EQF
Stuttgart, Germany - 15th of June 2011

The purpose of this project meeting was stock-taking of the Project Work Packages and 
Deliverables of the NQF-SQF Project: Common Grounds for Referencing NQFs and 
SQFs to the EQF. Items on the agenda included referencibility of National Qualifications 
Frameworks, referencibility of Sectoral Qualifications Frameworks, collaboration between 
sectoral and public stakeholders and overcoming the European Qualifications Framework 
Information divide.  

This meeting was attended by Dr Maria Magro Scerri, Commission Officer, NCHE. 

18th Joint Meeting of the ENIC and NARIC Networks
Warsaw – 19-21 June 2011

The purpose of this Enic-Naric networks annual meeting was to bring together national 
recognition centres of the EU Member States and of the states party to the Lisbon 
Convention together with the relevant international organisations and experts in order 
to exchange information and ideas, as well as to take decisions regarding issues of 
recognition. It also provided a forum for face to face meetings and discussions of a bilateral 
nature. During this meeting the Naric Advisory Board for 2011-2012 and the Enic Bureau 
for 2011-2012 were elected. 

Items on the agenda included reports by the Council of Europe, the European Commission 
and UNESCO, the Lisbon Recognition Convention, qualifications frameworks and 
recognition practice, presentations of NARIC projects and future priorities for the NARIC 
projects, the EAR project, latest developments with the Bologna process, the BFUG on 
recognition, presentation of the Chinese higher education system.
    
MQC was represented by Ms Shirley Micallef, Mutual Recognition Coordinator. 

11th Meeting of the EQF Advisory Group
Brussels – 21-23 June 2011

The purpose of this 11th EQF Advisory Group meeting was to discuss: the latest 
developments and the key issues related to the implementation of the EQF at national 
and European level. One central point on the agenda was the presentation of the Belgian 
(Flemish) and Portuguese referencing reports to the EQF Advisory Group.

As more countries finalise their referencing report, the actualisation of the EQF 
becomes more tangible. The EQF is becoming a tool in practice. Common 
challenges can be identified as more referencing reports are presented. It is 
perhaps a good step if good practices or European-wide solutions are identified 
to the common issues which if untreated may pose serious challenges to 
implementation of transparency, transferability and understanding between systems.  

This meeting was attended by Mr Matthew Agius, Commission Officer, NCHE.   

“The EQF is becoming 

a tool in practice. 

Common challenges can 

be identified as more 

referencing reports are 

presented.”
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FIRST Project:
To Define the EQF Translators for the Financial Services Sector 
6th and  Last Partners’ Meeting
Rome - 22-24 June 2011

This was the 6th and last Partners’ Meeting of the FIRST Project: To Define the EQF 
Translators for the Financial Services Sector. This meeting was attended by Dr Maria 
Magro Scerri, Commission Officer, NCHE. The meeting was hosted by one of the 
project partners – EBTN. The FIRST Project produced a useful European Qualifications 
Framework translator for the Financial Services Sector. This tool can be used and further 
developed according to the ever-changing needs of the Financial Services Sector. 

The main objectives of this Final Meeting covered the following -  

• Preparation for the Dissemination Conference

• Proceedings of the Dissemination Conference. Final Conclusions and Follow up

• Final Report: Financial Part

• Future Dissemination Activities

Seminar Free Movement of Persons
Recognition of Qualifications and Social Security Right
Brussels – 23-24 June 2011

This seminar addressed problematic areas of free movement and examined ways of helping 
Member States authorities to properly transpose and apply the provisions of Directive 
2004/38/EC. It also examined the state of play of the evaluation of the Professional 
Qualifications Directive 2005/36/EC, the issue of business mobility and common 
problems of implementation, including enforcement, recent case law and instruments for 
modernisation. 

Furthermore, the seminar focused on the social protection of mobile workers so as 
to enhance occupational mobility. In this context, it analysed the provisions for the 
coordination of social security rights for EU citizens and legally residing third-country 
nationals and gave concrete examples on the legislative changes on social security law. 
This seminar was attended by Ms Shirley Micallef, Mutual Recognition Coordinator, MQC. 

4th Steering Meeting of the HEQ Bridges Project
Bucharest – 27-28 June 2011

The purpose of this 4th Steering Committee Meeting of the HEQ Bridges Project was 
to see to the developments of the project and discuss the deliverables produced and in 
progress whilst identifying the way forward on pending tasks of each partner. The main 
topics discussed were the finalisation of Work Package Three (Comparative Analysis 
of Terms, Frameworks and Sectoral Qualifications), the progress of Work Package 4 
(European Journal of Qualifications), Work Package 5 (case studies in the Air Transport 
and Mechatronics sectors), and financial and administrative updates.

This project meeting also served to identify the pending tasks of the various partners 
including those of the MQC. This project has already required an extension from the 
CION and various tasks were still pending. A strict timeline had to be adhered to, to ensure 
that all deliverables were completed. This meeting was attended by Ms Tanya Zammit,  
Operation Manager, NCHE and Mr Matthew Agius, Commission Officer, NCHE. 
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First EQAVET Seminar
Standardisation and Contextualisation: lessons learned 
from 2003 to 2011
Vienna – 14-15 July 2011

This first seminar was organised to reflect on the EQAVET developments from its starting 
phase in 2003, when the technical working group on quality in VET worked on the 
CQAF, till the establishment of the EQAVET framework in 2010; and at the same time 
to look forward and have to proceed further at national level. This seminar provided 
participants with information from different perspectives: from national, European and 
sectoral levels. 

The main objectives of this seminar can be summed up as follows-

• to facilitate synergy building and the exchange of experiences among the projects 

• to advance on specific themes with inputs from different perspectives

• to involve national stakeholders and to inform about the EU development in 
EQAVET

• to ultimately contribute to the European cooperation process of EQAVET

This seminar was attended by Ms Valerie Attard, Communications Manager, MQC and Dr 
Maria Magro Scerri, Commission Officer, NCHE. 

Erasmus Mundus Committee Meeting
Brussels – 15 July 2011

This was the first meeting of the Erasmus Mundus Committee in 2011. Items on the agenda 
included the Erasmus Mundus Call for Proposals, the new generation of programmes after 
2013, the Erasmus Mundus Quality Assessment and the ‘Study in Europe’ campaign. 

NCHE was represented by Ms Christine Scholz, Commission Officer as Malta’s alternate 
member on the Erasmus Mundus Committee

Final Partners Meeting: NQF Inclusive Project, Gleisdorf
Austria – 7-9 September 2011

This was the final Partners’ meeting and final conference in conclusion of the Leonardo 
da Vinci Project: NQF Inclusive in which the Malta Qualifications Council and MCAST 
are both active partners. The conference was entitled ‘Let me show what I have learnt 
– Applying the National Qualification Framework Levels 1 & 2 for Basic Vocational 
Training. This meeting also incorporated a show around of the training facilities available 
for intellectually impaired youths at Chance B Farm and Bakery, situated on the outskirts 
of Gleisdorf, Austria.

The main outcomes of this project meeting were the following – 

1) introduction of levels lower than Level 1 in which these persons can be classified 
and encouraged to progress;

2) revision of the EQF is needed to include more lower levels; 
3) promotion and further encouragement of partial qualification;
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4) accreditation courses for the school drop-outs who have successfully not finished 
compulsory education 

5) more awareness among employers;
6) more European cooperation on validation of informal and non-formal learning;
7) the EQF focuses mainly on the higher levels but not on lower levels (especially 

Nordic countries)
8) national and regional authorities need to be more involved and made aware on VET 

for persons with intellectual disabilities;
9) invest more in support services such as career guidance and counselling in order to 

identify, organise and document all their own competences and skills;
10) collective agreements should be adopted to reflect salary scales in accordance with 

the NQF levels, including apprenticeships;
11) the need to define quality assurance standards in VET curricula;
12) the need for an expert group in special needs education consisting of all stakeholders, 

not only academics (authorities, schools/teachers, parents, training providers etc) in 
relation to the E/NQF.

This meeting was attended by Mr John Bartolo, Malta College of Arts, Science and 
Technology, Mr Richard Curmi, Senior Manager, MQC and Ms Carmen Dalli, Manager – 
Finance and Administration, MQC.  

Meeting of the Group of Coordinators 
for the Recognition of Professional Qualifications
Brussels – 9 September 2011

This meeting focused on various educational reforms. These included a discussion on the 
outcomes of a study on the educational reform and the levels of qualifications. Other items 
on the agenda were automatic recognition which included minimum training conditions 
and the notification procedure and the certificate of registration as evidence of a formal 
qualification. 

The Mutual Recognition Coordinators also discussed the possibility to add competences 
to the Directive as well as the issue of Continuous Professional Development. The 
Commission represented also presented various features that should be contained in the 
Professional Card. These included various security features. This meeting was attended by 
Ms Shirley Micallef, Mutual Recognition Coordinator, MQC. 

EURASHE Council Meeting
Brussels – 10 September 2011

During this EURASHE Council meeting the link between quality assurance and 
transparency tools was discussed. EURASHE President Mr Lars Nielsen explained that 
EURASHE’s position is that transparency tools should not be used to facilitate ranking, but 
to provide transparent information that facilitates and underpins quality assurance. Thus 
the link between the two should be seen in this light. Council Members also argued that 
the position on the different transparency tools (U-Map, Multirank) needs to be clarified 
with regard to the instruments that may be supported and others that are considered to 
be unacceptable.

With regard to the mobility chapter the ambitious goal of having 20% of students mobile by 
2020 was discussed and it was criticised that hardly any concrete proposals exist beyond 
the general support of the benefits of mobility. It was suggested that more work is needed 

“With regard to the 

mobility chapter the 

ambitious goal of having 

20% of students mobile 

by 2020 was discussed”
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to identify the contribution professional higher education could bring to the table and that 
is not already being mentioned by other European organisations, such as EUA or ESU.

The EURASHE Annual Conference 2012 is foreseen to take place in Riga on 11th and 
12th May 2012. NCHE was represented for this Council Meeting by Ms Christine Scholz, 
Commission Officer.  

Peer Learning Activity – School Leaving Qualifications
Talinn, Estonia – 20-21 September 2011

The development of NQFs and their referencing to EQF-levels as well as to the QF-EHEA 
can potentially influence (strengthen or weaken) the existing practise (supported by the 
Lisbon Recognition Convention) to treat school leaving qualifications as broadly equivalent 
across Europe. While school leaving qualifications vary as regards the content and profile, 
these are in practise not understood as ‘significantly different’ from each other (in the 
terms of the Lisbon Recognition Convention, as presenting “substantial differences” 
giving rise to or reason for non-recognition.)

The Revised Recommendation on Criteria and Procedures for the Assessment of Foreign 
Qualifications recommends that, “where available, the competent recognition authorities 
should refer to the “NQF, the EQF and other similar QFs as part of the assessment 
process”. Some concerns have been raised that linking school leaving qualifications that 
give access to higher education to different EQF levels could confuse existing recognition 
practises. 

This PLA’s main objectives were to provide participants with an opportunity to 
systematically discuss: 

•  to which NQF level various school leaving qualifications are linked and how this level 
has been or is being referenced to the EQF;

•  what criteria have been or are being used for this referencing, 

•  how the referencing can potentially influence existing recognition practises and 
whether linking to school leaving qualifications to different EQF levels is a problem,

•  whether it is possible and/or necessary to coordinate the linking of  school leaving 
qualifications to the EQF.

Mr Richard Curmi, Senior Manager, MQC attended this peer learning activity that was 
organised by the Ministry of Education and Research in Estonia, in cooperation with the 
European Commission, the Council of Europe and Cedefop.

ECVET pilot projects Seminar of the First 
and Second Generation ECVET projects in 2010
Dissemination and Exploitation of results - Synergies between pilot projects
Ljubljana, Slovenia – 29-30 September 2011      

The primary aim of this seminar was to bring together the first (2008-2011) and the 
second generation of ECVET pilot projects (2011-2013) and to provide a chance for them 
to discuss common challenges and create synergies.

On the first day, both generations of ECVET pilot projects worked together in plenary 
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sessions and synergy workshops. On the second day, both generations of pilot projects 
worked separately.

The first generation of projects discussed issues of mainstreaming and dissemination, 
whilst the second generation of projects discussed aspects of the technical specifications 
(description of vocational qualifications in terms of units of learning outcomes, design of 
learning outcome transfer process – approaches and first results.) 

This meeting was attended by Ms Louisa Pace Kiomall, Commission Officer, NCHE and 
Mr Vince Maione, Assurance Director, Malta College of Arts, Science and Technology. 

Single Market Forum 
Krakow, Poland – 3-4 October 2011

The purpose of this Single Market Forum, which was the first to be organised, was to 
take note of the report on citizens’ and businesses’ main 20 concerns, the EU-wide 
competition “Tell us your story” and the Declaration from Polish Youth, all of which point 
out the problems which citizens, businesses, workers and public authorities experience in 
everyday lives.

The Forum also included eight workshops. The themes of the workshops were as follows 
- professional qualifications: the potential of a European Professional Card,  aalternative 
dispute resolution and online dispute resolution – the future,  doing business made easier: 
the “points of single contact”, e-commerce: perspectives and challenges, posting of workers 
and fundamental social rights, improving the functioning of EU public procurement law,  
bridging the gap between citizens and the single market; implementing the single market 
to ensure citizens’ rights – success stories from Member States.

Malta was represented by Mr Mark Borg Officer Commerce Division (MFEI), Mr Noel 
Bartolo Director Commerce Division (MFEI), Mr Ernest Camilleri Policy Officer (MFEI) and 
Ms Shirley Micallef, Mutual Recognition Coordinator, MQC. 

12th Meeting of the EQF Advisory Group
Brussels – 4-6 October 2011

The purpose of this 12th EQF Advisory Group meeting was to discuss: the latest 
developments and the key issues related to the implementation of the EQF at national and 
European level. One central point on the agenda was the presentation of the Estonian, 
Dutch and Latvian referencing reports to the EQF AG. Moreover, a discussion on 
international qualifications was held as well as reporting of various EQF-related activities 
and developments. During this meeting the EQF AG also addressed international sectoral 
issues and the methodology for reporting to the EQF AG. This meeting also included an 
update on the Europass Developments such as the Skills Passport. 

Malta was represented for this meeting by Mr Matthew Agius, Commission Officer, NCHE 
and EQF Advisory Group Alternate Member.   
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European Training Foundation Conference on Qualifications Frameworks 
from Concepts to Implementation
Brussels – 6-7 October 2011

This conference aimed to take stock of developments in the area of qualification frameworks 
since the last conference organised by the ETF in 2009 and to facilitate discussions on the 
challenges of the implementation processes. The conference also presented studies on QF 
implementation arrangements in ten different countries and introduced the Qualifications 
Platform as a practical tool for sharing experience between actors that are involved in the 
development and implementation of QFs.

This conference also served as an opportunity both to network and to discuss issues related 
to the building and design of qualifications frameworks with countries and stakeholders 
beyond Europe. The conference outlined that there are many common issues and 
common tools that can be applied and discussed across regional borders, however one 
has to be sensitive to context-based variables which do not allow a one-size-fits-all model. 
Nevertheless, qualifications frameworks are emerging and being implemented beyond 
the EQF and therefore it is necessary and opportune to explore further such possible 
cooperation.

This conference was attended by Mr Matthew Agius, Commission Officer, NCHE. 

Erasmus Mundus Committee Meeting, Brussels 
7th October 2011

During this Committee Meeting the Erasmus Mundus revised work programme and 
budget 2011 was discussed as well as the revision to the Erasmus Mundus 2009-2013 
Programme Guide. This Programme Guide was amended and presented to the Erasmus 
Mundus Committee.

Other items on the agenda included the Erasmus Mundus brand name, quality assurance 
initiatives and the new generation of programmes after 2013. NCHE was represented by 
Ms Christine Scholz, Commission Officer and Malta’s alternate member on the Erasmus 
Mundus Committee. 

3rd Partners’ Meeting EQF Spread 
(Proposals for the implementation and development of the Sectorial 
and National Qualifications Frameworks)
Chichester, England – 6-7 October 2011

The third EQF SPREAD third partners’ meeting was held in Chichester, UK.   The 
purpose of this meeting was to look back on the finished tasks carried out so far and build 
on the strengths and weaknesses of the partnership, while discussing the way forward 
as to achieve the project planned deliverables.  The main topics discussed during this 
meeting included:  the description of key occupations in terms of Learning Outcomes, 
the national reports that support an international inventory of occupations, the guide for 
the development of NQF and SQF in the participant countries the guide for European 
VET guidance, linked to EQF, the tool for the self-evaluation of knowledge, skills and 
competences and the tool for the elaboration of the Europass CV. 

MQC was represented by Mr Richard Curmi, Senior Manager and Ms Carmen Dalli 
Finance and Administration Manager.
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4th NQF/SQF Project Meeting
Vienna – 10-11 October 2011

This meeting was attended by Dr Maria Magro Scerri, Commission Officer, NCHE. 

This meeting was organised and hosted by one of the project partners – DEKRA. Items 
on the agenda included the referencibility of National Qualifications Frameworks, the 
implementation of successful National Qualifications Frameworks, model of collaboration 
between sectoral and public stakeholders and overcoming the European Qualifications 
Framework information divide.

Meeting for Directors General for Higher Education
Krakow, Poland – 11-12 October 2011

This meeting was held at the invitation of the Ministry of Science and Higher Education 
and within the framework of the Polish Presidency of the European Union. 

The meeting focused on the modernisation of higher education which is a priority on the 
current European agenda. Full exploitation of the intellectual capital of Europe for the 
achievement of its competitive edge, requires actions for development of higher education 
systems and institutions. Identification of new challenges, possibilities and further actions 
in this field is also a prerequisite to the implementation of Europe 2020 Strategy.

Against this backgorund, the key messages of the new Communication of the European 
Commission on the modernisation of higher education served as a starting point for 
discussions. During the meeting, the participants had an opportunity to exchange views 
and share experiences on issues forming a part of the modernisation process, such as 
transparency tools in higher education, student financial support for mobility, employability 
of graduates.

Finally, the outcomes of the meeting contributed substantially to the ongoing debate on the 
modernisation of European higher education systems and institutions and provided input 
to the work of the Education Committee on the Council conclusions on the modernisation 
of higher education.

This meeting was attended by Dr Philip von Brockdorff CEO MQC/NCHE.

Bologna Follow-Up Group (BFUG) Meeting
Krakow, Poland – 13-14 October 2011

The main objective of this BFUG meeting was to assess Malta’s state of play regarding 
the Bologna Process targets through initiatives taken by the National Team of Bologna 
Experts (NTBE) Malta and Higher Education Institutions (HEIs), namely the University of 
Malta, the Malta College of Arts, Science and Technology and the Institute of Tourism 
Studies. In 2010 and 2011, the NTBE and the local stakeholders in the education sector 
have been involved in a series of seminars which promoted the themes of the Leuven/
Louvain-la-Neuve Communiqué. Seven seminars were held in total between 2009 and 
2011, which were followed up by a series of publications (6 reports and 1 leaflet). The 
publications focus on the themes addressed during the Bologna activities and the impact 
of the Bologna Process on HEIs in Malta. 

Malta was represented by Ms Debbie Lora Dimech, Commission Officer for International 
Policy, NCHE. 
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5th European Conference on Validation and Evidencing Informal 
and Non-Formal Learning in European Collaboration and Mobility Actions
Leuven, Belgium – 14 October 2011 

This conference in Leuven was the first cluster meeting comprising the four LLP sectors 
Adult, Vocational, School and Higher Education. It was developed in the framework of 
the VIP project dealing with validation of learning outcomes in European projects and 
partnerships. Within this conference the outcomes of the VIP project were presented, the 
instruments were applied and new opportunities for projects and services in the field of 
learning outcome validation were created. 

Due to the practical character of the conference the participant number was limited to 
60. These included educational experts and practitioners from more than 15 European 
countries, from different kinds of European projects, universities, schools and training 
institutes as well as national and European decision makers and funding organisations.

MQC was represented by Ms Valerie Attard, Communications Manager, MQC. 

Group of Coordinators for the Recognition of Professional Qualifications
Brussels – 14th October 2011

This meeting focused on the Green Paper. There was a debate about whether the 
professional card should be introduced to professions that have automatic recognition. 
The meeting also focused on the European Professional Card. There was a discussion on 
the outcome of the Steering Group and the Single Market Forum. 

Other items on the agenda included the registration requirements for health professionals 
and the study of the lawyers Directive. This meeting was attended by Ms Shirley Micallef, 
Mutual Recognition Coordinator, MQC. 

Erasmus Mundus Coordinators Conference
Brussels – 15th October 2011

This conference tackled the management of the Erasmus Mundus programme and 
was addressed specifically to Erasmus Mundus Coordinators to ensure the successful 
implementation of selected Erasmus Mundus Master Courses, Joint Doctorates, Erasmus 
Mundus Action 02 and 03 projects. It was very useful in terms of understanding the 
difficulties of Erasmus Mundus Coordinators and how they may be addressed on national 
level as an Erasmus Mundus National Structure.

This conference was attended by Ms Christine Scholz, Commission Officer, NCHE and 
Malta’s alternate member on the Erasmus Mundus Committee.   

 
Thematic Working Group “Modernisation of Higher Education”
Brussels - 19 October 2011

This was the fourth meeting of the Thematic Working Group “Modernisation of Higher 
Education”. Malta was represented by Ms Christine Scholz, Commission Officer, NCHE 
and Mr Justin Facciol, Education, Youth and Culture Attaché Permanent Representation 
of Malta to the European Union. 
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The participants who attended this meeting included representatives from the Member 
States, Candidate Countries, EFTA and EEA. During this meeting the EU Commission’s 
Communication “Supporting growth and jobs, an agenda for the modernisation of 
Europe’s higher education systems” was presented. There was also a discussion on the 
work programme 2012-2012. The five themes proposed were the following -  
 
• Increasing attainment levels
• Improving the quality and relevance of HE
• Strengthen quality through mobility and cross-border co-operation
• Linking HE, research and business for excellence and regional development
• Improving governance and funding

CO.L.O.R Second Partners’ Project Meeting
Glasgow, Scotland – 27-28 October 2011

CO.L.O.R project aims at satisfying specific requirements related to competency 
valorisation and Learning Outcomes recognition for migrants.  It focuses on two specific 
sectors:  healthcare and construction and on 11 qualifications (based on both national and 
regional Italian standards) at the EQF Level 3.  The Malta Qualifications Council is one 
of the project partners on this project and, among other responsibilities in this project, 
it is obliged to attend and participate in the Project Partners’ Meetings as agreed by the 
partnership.

This second partners meeting gave partners an overview of activities and results to date 
and an opportunity to discuss the way forward. MQC was represented by Ms Carmen 
Dalli, Manager – Finance and Administration. 

Public Conference on the Modernisation 
of the Professional Qualifications Directive
Brussels – 7th November 2011

During this meeting a study was presented and discussed. This was the final report for the 
study to evaluate the impact of EU educational reforms (notably the Bologna Process and 
the European Qualifications Framework) on the recognition of professional qualifications 
under Directive 2005/36/EC. 

Other items discussed in detail were the European Professional Card and the issue of 
mobility. MQC was represented by Ms Shirley Micallef, Mutual Recognition Coordinator.  

Group of Coordinators for the Recognition of Professional Qualifications
Brussels – 14 November 2011

This meeting focused on the work of the steering group on the European Professional 
Card. The meeting also discussed the functioning of the European Professional Card via 
the IMI.  

MQC was represented by Ms Shirely Micallef, Mutual Recognition Coordinator.    
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INTER – HED Kick – Off Meeting
Rome - 14 November 2011

The purpose of this Inter-Hed project is to create a training course targeted at the 
administration staff who are interested in managing international programmes and projects 
and in collecting information about the Higher Education Systems and internationalisation 
policies, with focus on Erasmus Mundus. 

This meeting was attended by Ms Josephine Sultana, MQRIC Acting Credential Evaluator 
and Ms Elaine Caruana, MQRIC Staff Member.  

EQAVET-EQF-ECVET Joint Seminar: 
Assuring the Quality of VET Qualifications 
– the contribution of EU tools for the definition 
and re-definition of learning outcomes based standards
Bonn, Germany – 14-15 November 2011

One of the priorities of the EQAVET Work Programme 2010-2012 is coordination 
between the European tools: EQAVET, ECVET and EQF. In order to enhance this 
cooperation the Secretariats of the three networks organised this joint seminar with the 
theme on: Assuring the quality of VET qualifications – The contribution of EU tools to 
the definition and re-definition of learning outcomes based standards.  The seminar was 
hosted by the National Agency Education for Europe at the Federal Institute for Vocational 
Education and Training.  

The joint seminar created an opportunity for a structured reflection on the interaction 
between the EQF, ECVET and EQAVET instruments. It provided a forum for national 
stakeholders involved in the development of learning outcomes standards to consider 
how to make best use of the tools and enhance co-operation in their implementation to 
support the development of high quality VET qualifications.  Nonetheless, through the 
means of workshops participants also had the opportunity to share their views on how 
this co-ordination of these three tools is functioning in their country and to propose to 
the Commission what measures can they take from their side to further strengthen the 
co-ordination measures between these three important tools. 

This meeting was attended by Ms Louisa Pace Kiomall, Commission Officer, National 
Commission for Higher Education.  
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Europass 3rd Network Meeting “Twins Project” Working Group
Lisbon - 15- 16 November 2011

The purpose of the 3rd Network Working Group Meeting was held to discuss: opportunities 
for further cooperation, sharing of good practice and to discuss the latest developments in 
Europass particularly the Europass Skills Passport. 

Networking between the National Europass Centres (NECs) across Europe is a very 
important aspect in the management of the NECs. Therefore, the meeting also served 
as an opportunity for the Maltese delegate to establish a first contact with counterparts 
from other countries since the delegate has only recently taken over responsibility for the 
coordination of the NEC in Malta.

This meeting was attended by Mr Silvano Cristauro, Europass Coordinator, National 
Commission for Higher Education.  
National Europass Centres Meeting
Brussels - 8th December 2011

The purpose of this ESP+ Meeting was for CION to provide the latest updates in relation 
to the developments of the European Skills Passport and Europass in general. CION 
envisages that the tool will be launched in the fourth quarter of 2012. Even though 
according to CION 90% of the work on the ESP is concluded, it will however be difficult 
to present the tool and finalise the remaining work. Besides communicating the latest 
developments on the ESP document the meeting also served as an opportunity for further 
consultation with the NECs for its development and on the phasing out of the EM tool.

During the meeting other points were also discussed such as the importance for NEC to 
involve themselves in the various Working Groups and clusters to promote networking. 
The results of these initiatives are regularly presented to CION and to the rest of the 
NEC to support sharing of knowledge, good practice and cooperation. Other Europass 
developments include the launch of the new Europass CION website. CION also presented 
the Europass 2012 Roadmap.

This meeting was attended by Mr Silvano Cristauro, National Europass Coordinator, 
National Commission for Higher Education. 

   
Annual Meeting of the Network 
of National Academic Recognition Information Centres (NARIC)
Brussels – 13 December 2011

This meeting was organised by the European Commission and focused on the evaluation 
of the professional directive. Other items on the agenda included the European Area 
of Recognition Manual, the results of the last NARIC invitation to submit calls, how to 
enhance better cooperation between NARIC’s, a presentation of the ‘Erasmus for all 
Programme (2014-2020),’ problems of recognition in making Erasmus: results  of the 
prime 2010 project, information from the Elcore-group and latest developments of the 
ENIC-NARIC website, recognition practices and recommendations.    

This meeting was attended by Ms Josephine Sultana, Acting Credential Evaluator, MQRIC.   
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Erasmus Mundus National Structures Meeting
Brussels - 13th December 2011

This meeting was attended by Ms Christine Scholz, Commission Officer, NCHE and 
Erasmus Mundus Alternate Member. During this meeting the new generation of 
programmes post-2013 was discussed as well as the publication for the 2012 call for 
proposals. Information on the 5 cluster projects was also given. These projects covered 
the following areas –
 
• Sustainability

• Joint degrees

• Employability

• Regional Cluster on Asia

• Climate Change

Members were also given an update on the following projects - EMAP II, ASEMUNDUS, 
Euro-Asia.net, BRIDGE, INTER-HED, and ECCE MUNDUS projects. Other items on the 
agenda included the interim report on Erasmus Mundus (2009-2013).

ReferNet Ninth Plenary Meeting
Thessaloniki, Greece – 13-14 December 2011  

This meeting gave participants an excellent opportunity to go over the deliverable of the 
work plan 2011 and to discuss the way forward through the new call for proposals. Malta 
was one of the selected countries whereby a new 4 year agreement was signed between 
MQC and ReferNet so that MQC will continue to work on ReferNet aided by the ReferNet 
National Consortium.   

Malta was represented by Ms Carmen Dalli, ReferNet Coordinator and Ms Valerie Attard, 
Communications Manager, MQC and ReferNet Representative. Ms Jacqueline Micallef-
Grimaud,  Assistant Director, Malta College of Arts, Science and Technology also attended 
this meeting.  

“a new 4 year 
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National Team of Bologna Experts for the 2009-2011 Cycle
Dr James Calleja  Coordinator and CEO, MQC

Ms Bernie Mizzi  Director, St Martin’s College

Ms Veronica Grech  Registrar, University of Malta

Mr Henry Mifsud  Senior Lecturer, ITS

Dr Omar Grech  Lecturer, University of Malta

Dr Roberta Avellino  MEEF Coordinator 

Mr Carl Grech  KSU President

Prof. Alfred Vella  Pro-Rector, University of Malta

Mr Ray Farrugia  Registrar, MCAST

International Bologna Experts 
who participated in the Bologna Activities 2011
20th January 2011:  Ms. Helene Lagier (Employability Seminar)

10th March 2011:  Mr. Johny Lauritsen (Education, Research & Innovation)

18th / 19th April 2011: Ms. Ligia Deca
                       Prof Volker Gehmlich 
 (International Openness & the External Dimension)

20th May 2011:   Mr. Radu Constantinescu
                         Prof Philippos Pouyioutas
                         Ms. Carmen Vizcarro (Learning Outcomes Seminar)

Bologna Activities 

In collaboration with the European Union Programmes Agency (EUPA) 
and the Bologna Experts Group (Malta) the MQC/NCHE organised a 
series of seminars under the National Teams of Bologna Experts Group 
2009-2011. Two seminars were held in 2010 as part of this Project and 
four were held in 2011. 

The seminars held in 2011 were all chaired by the Malta BFUG 
Representative Dr James Calleja and with the participation of National 
Bologna Experts as well as International Bologna Experts.
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Date 20th January 2011
Topic  Employability 

The seminar focused on the relevance of higher education to employability 
in the context of a changing and challenging labour market. Cooperation 
between higher education institutions and employers is of the utmost 
importance in order to achieve higher employment rates, particularly 
amongst graduate students. This collaboration is further needed to identify 
curricula based on a learning outcomes approach which will enable 
students to move within the labour market.

With this in mind, the aim of the seminar was therefore to explore how 
employability can be improved in the light of the three cycle system; the 
Malta Qualifications Framework and the fields of study mostly relevant 
to Malta’s socio-economic development, especially in view of the current 
global economic situation. An emphasis was also drawn on higher 
education institutions and the employers’ role to provide ample career 
guidance and equip students adequately by increasing the number of work 
placements and work-based learning opportunities. 

Date 16-17 February 2011
Topic  Student-Centred Learning 

The key objective of this seminar was to challenge the learning process 
in higher education in the context of a desired student-centred approach. 
The goal was to identify indicators that show how programmes in Higher 
Education can be recognised as student-centred. The seminar also focused 
on: designing flexible learning paths; developing new courses based on 
learning outcomes; teaching paradigms; the increased importance of the 
social dimension of Higher Education, the harmonisation of academic and 
vocational credits and developments in the recognition of formal, informal 
and non-formal learning. The conference also served as a platform for the 
exchange of good practices between experts from different countries and 
national stakeholders, particularly students, academic and administrative 
staff as well as employers.

Invited Speakers  Ms. Aurelia Valeikiene
 Ms. Raimonda Markeviciene
 Ms. Nora Pileicikiene
 Ms. Milica Popovic
 Dr. Helene Kamensky 

National 
Bologna 
Activities 
2011
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National Stakeholders included 
students, academic and administrative 
staff and employers. 
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Date 10 March 2011
Topic  Education, Research and Innovation 

This half-day seminar focused on the relevance of Higher Education 
Institutions to research and innovation in the context of a changing and 
challenging EHEA. Cooperation between European higher education 
institutions needs to be enhanced and new projects need to be developed, 
particularly at doctoral level. More initiatives need to be undertaken 
to ensure that Malta moves towards becoming a centre of excellence 
in education and research. With this objective in mind, the aim of this 
seminar was to explore what measures need to be taken now to increase 
participation rates in post-graduate research-based courses and how more 
courses in fields relevant to Malta’s socio-economic growth can be provided 
by HEIs in Malta. References to the relevant key objectives outlined in the 
Leuven and Louvain-la-Neuve Communiqué were also made. 

Date  18-19 April 2011
Topic  International Openness and the International 
Dimension

This seminar brought together international and national stakeholders to 
discuss the developments in International Openness and the International 
Dimension in the context of the Leuven and the Louvain-La-Neuve 
Communiqué. This two day seminar addressed the issue of how Higher 
Education Institutions can improve the attractiveness of the EHEA as a 
Higher Education destination. Particular focus was placed on how partners 
in the Bologna process can promote the European Higher Education 
Area beyond Europe’s borders in an attempt to bridge the gap between 
participants countries’ external policies.   

Invited Speakers  Ms. Elizabeth Colucci
 Mr. Virgilio Meira Soares
 Ms. Brikena Xhomaqi
 Mr. Volodymr Kuzka
  Padre Friedrich Bechina
 Ms. Erzebet Szlamka
 Dr. Dilly Tawakkul
 Ms. Johansson Toril

National 
Bologna 

Activities 
2011
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National stakeholders who attended the 
seminar.

Dr James Calleja addressing the national 
stakeholders.

National stakeholders who attended 
the seminar. 
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Date  20 May 2011
Topic  Learning Outcomes 

The main objectives of this seminar were to target the further 
development of learning outcomes, whilst taking into consideration the 
different approaches towards writing learning outcomes and to identify 
which approaches are best suited for the design of learning outcomes 
that meet a student centred learning approach. The target audience for 
this seminar included representatives from the University of Nicosia in 
Cyprus, EURASHE, the University of Madrid and the Ministry of Science, 
Education and Sport in Croatia, as well as all national stakeholders in the 
education sector, particularly professionals involved in Higher Education.  
 
Invited Speakers  Mr. Luka Juros
 Mr. Stefan Delplace

National 
Bologna 
Activities 
2011
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INLearning

The aims of this project were to identify existing occupational standards for specific jobs in 7 
different sectors and to profile individuals in the specific jobs in the sectors identified with the 
intention of matching their skills and competences to the occupational standards identified. This 
project commenced in February 2009 and ended in January 2011 with the final conference, 
held in Malta.  

NQF Inclusive

Often people with (learning) disabilities or people from sectors of society, where educational 
achievement is low, are not able to graduate from formal vocational trainings like apprenticeships. 
As a result, these people tend to join basic vocational training courses specifically designed for 
them by certain institutions, in order to gain knowledge, skills and competences for use in particular 
vocations. Although they are often well trained and learn how to carry out specific tasks in these 
courses, they do not receive any officially accredited certification. A certificate, showing potential 
employers, what a person is able to do as a result of their training would prove very helpful. The 
aim of this project was, therefore, to develop a model for accreditation and certification of these 
training courses, using the European and National Qualification Frameworks.

This project commenced in October 2009 and ended in September 2011. 

NQF/SQF - Common Grounds for Referencing NQFs and SQFs to the EQF 

The overall aim of this project is to create common grounds for referencing national qualifications 
framework and sectoral qualifications/competence frameworks to the European Qualifications 
Framework, thereby providing for comparability of qualifications the basis of learning outcomes 
defined in terms of abilities required by work processes. This shall be enabled by the use of an 
instrument to be developed within the project i.e. the Employability Grid, which links NQFs to 
Occupational Standards.

This project commenced in March 2010 and will end in March 2012.
 

EQF Spread

The main aim of this project is to propose, from the point of view of the labour market-represented 
by Public administrations, social partners, training centres and companies - a methodology and 
a set of tools for the implementation and development of the EQF in the national  and sectorial 
qualifications frameworks, considering: the experience from countries with a NQF already 
established, the learning outcomes in the eight EQF qualification levels, the main occupations 
from the agricultural, industrial and services economic sectors, the VET and educational systems 
and the formal, non-formal and informal ways of learning.

This project commenced in March 2010 and will end in February 2012. 

International Projects 
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HEQ Bridges

This project will build bridges between the QF-EHEA and the European Qualifications 
Framework through sectoral case studies across partner countries to support the 
implementation and development of the EQF.

This project commenced in 2010 and ended in September 2011. 

Golf Stand

The European Occupational Standards for Golf project has been developed with the main 
objective to produce a range of indispensable European occupational standards aiming at 
defining the competences, skills and knowledge needed for those working in the sector as 
golf professionals.

This project commenced in October 2010 and will end in September 2012. The MQC 
is the coordinator of Work Package 8 which focuses on Quality Assurance of Vocational 
Education and Training in the Golf Sector.

ReferNet

ReferNet is a network created by CEDEFOP in 2002 to provide information on National 
Vocational Education and Training (VET) systems and policies in Members States, Iceland 
and Norway. This information is displayed in CEDEFOP databases and is used for 
comparative studies. At country level it gives valuable insights into national VET systems.

ReferNet Southern Regional Meeting 
held at ITS.

ReferNet National Representatives and Coordinators at ITS. 
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This year the Southern Regional Meeting was hosted by Malta. The meeting was held 
on the 18-19 May and it was held at the Institute of Tourism Studies (ITS) and the Malta 
College of Arts, Science and Technology (MCAST). The meeting was organised by Ms 
Carmen Dalli, ReferNet Coordinator and Finance and Administration Manager, MQC and 
Ms Valerie Attard, Communications Manager, MQC and ReferNet Representative.    

A ReferNet Consortium meeting was held on the 3rd November 2011. This meeting was 
held to update the consortium on the ReferNet deliverables. The meeting was held at 
the Palace Hotel, Sliema. Another meeting was held at MQC’s premises in St Lucia on 
the 21st December 2011. This meeting was also open to representatives from various 
educational sectors. This meeting was held concurrently with a 4 day exhibition on 
ReferNet’s National Consortium.  Ms Carmen Dalli and Ms Valerie Attard also attended 
the 9th Plenary Meeting in December. This was held in Thessaloniki, Greece.

ReferNet Consortium Meeting 
3rd November 2011.

ReferNet National Consortium Meeting
 21st December 2011

ReferNet Southern Regional Meeting at MCAST. 
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CO.L.O.R

The CO.L.O.R (COmpetency and Learning Outcomes Recognition for migrants) project 
aims at satisfying specific requirements related to competency valorisation and Learning 
Outcomes recognition for migrants. Failure to recognise their work experience and 
Learning Outcomes not only makes it difficult for employers to appreciate what migrants 
can offer, but also qualifications and relevant competences remain unused and risk 
devaluing.

CO.L.O.R focuses on two specific sectors: healthcare and construction, and on 
11 qualifications (based on both national and regional standards) at the EQF level 3, 
which represents the “basic” level of qualifications (the first “achievement” in terms of 
competency) to enter the Italian labour market. 

ECVET (European Credit Transfer System for Vocational Education and Training) 

The main objectives of the ECVET system are to firstly support both student and ultimately 
employee mobility for European citizens, through the recognition of the units of learning 
outcomes; secondly to facilitate Life long learning, through the flexibility of programmes 
and pathways to achieve qualifications; and after all to encourage attractiveness of VET.

The European Credit Transfer System for Vocational Education and Training (ECVET) 
is the new European instrument for promoting life long learning, mutual trust, and 
mobility in vocational education and training across Europe.  Developed by member 
states in cooperation with the European Commission, ECVET has now been adopted 
by the European Parliament and the Council on June 18th 2009.  The adaptation and 
implementation of ECVET in the participating countries is voluntary.

Two project partner meetings and a National Conference were held in Malta in 2011. 
During the National Conference the ECVET national website was launched - www.
ecvetmalta.org.mt.

First Partners’ Meeting held at MCAST.  
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EQAVET (European Quality Assurance in Vocational Education and Training)

The EQAVET Malta Project entitled A Quality Assurance Tool for Vocational Education 
and Training Institutions involves the development and piloting of a Quality Assurance 
Tool for the implementation of EQAVET to the Maltese context. 

Since the Project Kick-off meeting in April,  the Malta Qualifications Council, together 
with the Maltese and foreign Project Partners, has reached some important project 
milestones starting with the Description of the Existing Quality Assurance Systems in 
Partner VET Institutions. This first project deliverable is a report which provides a review 
of the existing quality assurance standards and procedures for the quality assurance, at 
both programme and institutional level, for the four Partner VET providers in Malta. The 
main research tool used to collect detailed information on the existing Quality Assurance 
Structures was a form of questionnaire developed by the MQC and based on the 10 
indicators of the European Quality Assurance Reference Framework for VET. 

The MQC has also finalised another very important project deliverable which is the report 
on the Review of the Strenghts and Weaknesses of the Partner VET Quality Assurance 
Systems. This report,  reviews the four Quality Assurance Systems portrayed in the first 
report and identifies to what degree aspects of the European Quality Asurance Reference 
Framework for VET are already in place, as well as highlights the areas which need major 
action for better compliance to EQAVET Standards. 

The EQAVET website (www.eqavetmalta.org.mt) was also launched. The website has a 
public section on EQAVET and EQAVET implementation in Malta, as well as a private 
section which can only be accessible by the Project Partners and which facilitates the 
flow of information related to the Project. The EQAVET Malta website was launched 
during the First Dissemination Conference that was held on the 29th November 2011. 
The Conference was attended by management from VET institutions, personnel from 
the education sector, academic staff, VET students and other people interested in getting 
more acquainted with Quality Assurance in VET. 

During the Dissemination Conference publicity material for the Project developed by the 
MQC was distributed.  The publicity material comprises of the EQAVET Conference 
folder which includes the details of the EQAVET website, the new email address which has 
been set up to deal with enquires regarding EQAVET i.e. eqavet.meef@gov.mt and the 
EQAVET logos. This material also includes a very attractive information brochure on the 
Project. This brochure has been printed in two languages i.e. in English and in Maltese to 
ensure dissemination both in Malta and abroad. 

The MQC also hosted the second partners’ meeting which was held on the 28th and 
29th November 2011. During this meeting the MQC together with the Project Partners 
continued working on the way forward for the actual EQAVET Implementation in Malta 
which is currently one of the most desired results in the VET scenario. 

Foreign partners and MQC/NCHE staff 
during the partners meeting.
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Bridge

BRIDGE - Best Recognition Instruments for the Dialogue between Global Experts, is a 
project funded in the framework of Action 3 of the Erasmus Mundus Programme. Its main 
purpose is to strengthen cooperation among the Erasmus Mundus National Structures and 
the NARIC, ENIC and MERIC Centres.

Such an improvement emerges as a priority, considering the following two aspects: on the 
one hand, the need to establish Erasmus Mundus consortia to draft joint programmes and 
to provide for the award of the corresponding double, multiple or joint qualifications. On 
the other, the need to spread knowledge about the specific rules of the EM Programme 
among credential evaluation centres, in order to let them assess the qualifications issued 
by each consortium at best.

Inter-Hed

This project kicked off in November 2011. The partners in this project are: Malta, Italy, 
Lithuania, Portugal, Ireland and the Belgium Federation – Wallonia. The outcomes 
expected from this project are to create a training course targeted at the administration staff 
who are interested in managing international programmes and projects and in collecting 
information about the Higher Education Systems and internationalisation policies, with 
focus on Erasmus Mundus.

Europass

As part of the 2011 work programme a number of printed material was produced. This 
included three information leaflets, a bookmark, a poster and a pop-up banner. The Malta 
Qualifications Council was also responsible for setting up the National Europass Website 
which is maintained in-house -   www.europassmalta.org.mt 

Participants during the Europass Seminar – 11th December 2011. 
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· Seminar on Europass CV & Europass Language Passport

The Seminar on Europass CV & Europass Language Passport was the first own activity 
organised by the Centre and it was held at the Radisson Hotel St. Julian on the 2 December 
2011.  While participation was fairly good the active contribution of the participants 
during the question & answer was excellent.  During the activity various topics were 
discussed in connection with the Europass tools starting with effectiveness of transparency 
tools and methods on how to improve their effectiveness.  

During the activity an overview of the Europass tools to support mobility in Europe and a 
presentation on the Europass CV and Language Passport were tackled. The presentation 
on the two Europass tools provided an opportunity to deliver a comprehensive description 
on how to use these tools for individuals to present competences, skills and qualifications. 
Attention was also given to the importance of soft skills as personal attributes that enhance 
an individual’s interactions, job performance and career prospects and how these can be 
broadly applicable when developing a CV. 

During the event the Euroguidance representative in Malta, Mr Silvano Cristauro actively 
participated by providing an overview on the role that the Euroguidance centre fulfils in 
Malta. Euroguidance representative described how the Centre act as a link between the 
guidance services of each country, exchanging information about work, study and training 
opportunities throughout Europe and why it is necessary that both the Europass Centre as 
well as the Euroguidance Centre need to cooperate to provide better support in Malta in 
the field in which both centers operate.

Another topic discussed during the event was how the Malta Qualifications Framework 
is pegged to the EQF. During the presentation concepts on the MQF and the 
implementation measures undertaken in Malta were presented. The speaker described 
how the transparency of qualifications through the Europass documents compliments as 
well as facilitates the work of the MQF.  

· Launch of the Europass Mobility 

The Centre organised another major event planned for 2011, the Launch of the Europass 
Mobility document. The event was held on 11 December 2011 at the Palace Hotel Sliema.  
During this event the Centre launched the Mobility document in Malta with the aim to 
increase its visibility and use.  The activity provided another opportunity for cooperation 
with stakeholders to be undertaken. These included the active participation of the national 
Youth Agency representative, The Leonardo da Vinci Representative and participation of 
the MQF representative. 

The aim of the event was to promote the Europass Mobility document as tool that can 
record all types of mobility experiences across Europe that include academic purposes, 
work placements or mobility for informal learning purposes such as voluntary experiences. 
During the event participants where introduced to the document how it works and how 
it developed providing a step by step explanation. For this purpose, the guests invited 
explained how the document can be utilised in the different context such as through an EU 
funded mobility under the framework of the Leonardo da Vinci programme. 

Other examples were illustrated by the youth agency representative for mobility in the 
informal context, and how such mobility can recorded irrespective of whether they are EU 
funded or not such as in the case of EVS under the youth in action programme.  Initiatives 
that can support mobility for formal learning were also presented during the event. The 
presentation tackled how the Europass Mobility document can provided added value to 
such mobility and how the template facilitates the recording of Credit mobility. The event 
also included a discussion session with the audience where clarifications were provided on 
how to use the document and why it is necessary to promote mobility and record mobility 
experience particularly for young people.

Dr Philip von Brockdorff addressing 
participants.



MQC/NCHE Annual Report  61

VQPack (Accrediting Quality Vocational Training)

This project commenced in 2008 and ended in September 2011. The project oversees 
the design and publication of learning outcomes in nine key sectors that correspond to 
current vocational qualifications in the main training institutions.  Besides the research 
documentation, the project’s deliverables also included an attractive, visual production in 
the form of a 12-DVD Pack outlining the various qualifications, their learning outcomes 
and job prospects available in the various institutions for all the selected sectors.  
 
The latter priority areas comprise (1) Art and Design; (2) Community Services; (3) 
Agribusiness; (4) Building and Construction Engineering; (5) Business and Commerce; (6) 
Electrical and Electronic Engineering; (7) Mechanical Engineering; (8) Tourism Studies and 
(9) Heritage Studies. 

A number of seminars were held in 2011 to promote Vocational Education and Training.  
Dr Maria Magro Scerri was the project’s coordinator. Ms Carmen Dalli was responsible 
for the financial aspect of the project and Ms Valerie Attard was responsible for all 
communication activities of this project.

European Social Fund Projects

VQPack Seminar for Secondary School 
Students. 

VQPack 
Publications.

VQPack seminar for training providers.
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SkillsPlus (Valuing all Skills for the Labour Market)

This project commenced in 2008 and will end in March 2012. The project maps out the 
skills required in nine defined key sectoral areas to match occupational standards leading 
to formal certification and quality assurance, in order to enhance employment.  The nine 
key sectoral areas are again (1) Art and Design; (2) Community Services; (3) Agribusiness; 
(4) Building and Construction Engineering; (5) Business and Commerce; (6) Electrical and 
Electronic Engineering; (7) Mechanical Engineering; (8) Tourism Studies and (9) Heritage 
studies.  

SkillsPlus Publications 
and advertising 
material.
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MQC, as project coordinator, has set up a Consultation Research Task Force in order 
to undertake the study and propose the legal and management structure for the design 
of occupational standards and the validation of informal and non-formal learning. This 
research task force comprises of experts from the Malta College of Arts, Science and 
Technology (MCAST) as well as the Institute of Tourism Studies (ITS).  

A number of seminars were held in 2011 to promote this project. Mr Richard Curmi was 
the project’s coordinator. Ms Carmen Dalli was responsible for all financial aspects of this 
project and Ms Valerie Attard was responsible for all communication activities related to 
this project.

Mr Richard Curmi addressing a workshop.

Participants during one of the workshops. 

Participants from local VET organisations. 

Ms Valerie Attard and Mr Matthew 
Agius presenting the workshop reports. 

Mr Richard Curmi addressing a workshop. 
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Recognition of Qualifications

In 2011 the workforce of the Malta Qualifications Recognition 
Information Centre (MQRIC) office was increased by one staff member. 
Ms Elaine Caruana, MQRIC Clerk joined the team, bringing the number 
of MQRIC staff up to four.

As indicated in the table below there was an increase of 484 
applications when compared to the previous year. In total there were 
2820 qualifications with a total of 7576 applications to be assessed. By 
the end of 2011 73.9% of these had been assessed. 

The MQRIC staff were also actively involved in two new EU projects. 
These are the Bridge project and Inter-Hed.

 2010 2011 Increase

No of Applications Received 2336 2820 +484

No of Qualifications 6177 7576 +1399

Assessed Qualifications 5626 5600 Difference of just 26 when 

   compared to the previous year 

   and workload.

% of Assessed Qualifications 91.1% 73.9%
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The Office of the Mutual 
Recognition Coordinator

Through Directive 2005/36/EC the EU has reformed the system for recognition of 
professional qualifications, in order to help make labour markets more flexible, further 
liberalise the provision of services, encourage more automatic recognition of qualifications, 
and simplify administrative procedures. 

On 20 October 2007, at the end of the transposition period, this Directive has replaced 
fifteen existing Directives in the field of the recognition of professional qualifications, 
providing the first comprehensive modernisation of the EU system since its introduction 
over 40 years ago. 

But continued efforts are necessary in order to maintain the dynamism created by this 
Directive. The current system must be evaluated periodically in order to verify whether full 
use has been made of all the opportunities offered by Directive 2005/36/EC. The system 
must also take account of the considerable changes that have occurred in the Member 
States’ educational and training systems. 

For this reason the Commission has conducted a major evaluation of the 2005 Directive, 
has consulted stakeholders and has finally proposed a revision of the Directive in December 
2011. 

This proposed revision of the Directive was provided after several meetings held between 
the Commission and the Group of Coordinators. The Mutual Recognition Coordinator is 
a member of this Group and the following meetings/conferences and workshops were 
attended and the main aims for discussion were:

March 2011 – The European Professional Card

May 2011 – possible common conclusions from the workshops held with the sectoral 
professions with regards to the minimum training requirements.

September 2011 – Common platforms, educational reforms, modernizing automatic 
recognition, competences, Continuous Professional Development

October 2011 – The Green Paper

November 2011 – Non-Paper: The European Professional Card in the IMI 

Furthermore, the Mutual Recognition Coordinator participated in the following workshops 
in Brussels on the minimum training requirements:

April 2011 - Pharmacists

April 2011 - Veterinary Surgeons

April 2011 - Architects

May 2011 - Doctors and Dentists
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Since it is the remit of the Mutual Recognition Coordinator to promote uniform application 
of this Directive and to collect all the information which is relevant for application of this 
directive, the Mutual Recognition Coordinator organised the following meetings with the 
Designated Authorities:

17th January – 1st Informal Meeting
Preliminary discussion on updating the harmonized training requirement for the 7 
sectoral professions (doctors, general care nurses, dentists, veterinary surgeons, midwives, 
pharmacists and architects), regulated in Title III, Chapter III of Directive 2005/36/EC. 

13th September – 2nd Informal Meeting 
The Designated Authorities presented their replies with regards to the Green Paper. 
Following this the Office of the Mutual Recognition compiled Malta’s reply and presented 
it to the Commission.

30th November – Annual Conference of the Designated Authorities 
Update of the Internal Market Information; The European Professional Card in IMI; 
regulated Professions; duties and responsibilities of Designated Authorities vis-à-vis to the 
implementation of Directive 36/2005.

In October, the Mutual Recognition Coordinator attended The Single Market Forum held 
in Poland. This mainly dealt with the 20 main concerns which were noted from the report 
on citizens’ and businesses’ pointing out problems which citizens, businesses, workers and 
public authorities experience in everyday lives.

Mr Matthew Agius addressing the participants.
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In November, the Mutual Recognition Coordinator 
also attended a public conference organised by the 
Commission regarding the impact of the recent 
educational reforms on the Professional Qualifications 
Directive titled “How can regulated professions 
contribute to the Single Market?” held in Brussels. 

All the feedback which was required from all Member 
States was forwarded to the Commission and on 
the 19 December 2011, the Commission adopted 
a legislative proposal for modernising Directive 
2005/36/EC on the recognition of professional 
qualifications. 

The Mutual Recognition Coordinator also attended 
a seminar at the European Institute of Public 
Administration (EIPA) in The Netherlands. Participants 
examined the state of play of the valuation of the 
Professional Qualifications Directive, the issue 
of business mobility and common problems of 
implementation, including enforcement, recent case 
law and instruments for modernisation. The seminar 
focused on the social protection of mobile workers so 
as to enhance occupational mobility.
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Participation in National Fairs and Events

Learning Expo 2011, MFCC, Ta’ Qali 
1-6 March 2011

Ms Christine Scholz, Commission Officer, National Commission for Higher Education and 
Ms Valerie Attard, Communications Manager, Malta Qualifications Council were involved 
in a Working Group that was set up by the Permanent Secretary, Ministry of Education in 
order  to organise the Learning Expo 2011.    

The Learning Expo 2011 targeted 4th Form and 5th Form students and was held at the 
MFCC, Ta’ Qali. Over 5,000 students and members from the general public attended this 
Expo. 

The exhibitors included licensed public and private Education providers and the Malta 
Qualifications Council / National Commission for Higher Education also set up its own 
stand. The information provided mainly focused on the ESF Project VQPack and the 
promotion of Vocational Education and Training as well as to create more awareness on 
the MQRIC services. Students were also shown a presentation on the various services 
offer by the NCHE/MQC.       

University Student Days 
3rd March 2011

These information talks were organised by Ms Christine Scholz, Commission Officer 
NCHE.  The talks were held for University Students at the KSU Common Room on 
Campus. 

Communication Activities 

VQPack Material at the Learning Expo.

University Students during the 
information talks.
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Employment and Training Corporation (ETC) Jobs and Training Fair, 
Mediterranean Conference Centre, Valletta 
25-26 March 2011

This fair was set up by the Employment and Training Corporation specifically for job 
seekers. The Malta Qualifications Council participated in this fair to provide information 
on Vocational Education and Training Courses offered by the Malta College of Arts, 
Science and Technology (MCAST) and the Institute of Tourism Studies (ITS) as well as 
to raise awareness of its MQRIC services. Various printed material was distributed during 
this fair. 

Ms Josephine Sultana, MQRIC Acting Credential Evaluator also gave a presentation on 
the MQRIC services. Around 30 participants attended this presentation. 

VQPack Seminars and Exhibition, St. Julians 
5-8 April 2011

These seminars and 4 day exhibition were set up to promote the ESF Project VQPack. 
The seminar and exhibition were held at the Intercontinental Hotel, St Julians. Around 
200 secondary school students visited the exhibition. 

EMBED (Embedded Technology in Education) Exhibition, Mediterranean 
Conference Centre, Valletta
11-17 May 2011

The EMBED Exhibition was organised by the Curriculum Management and E-Learning 
Department and during this week a large number of Primary and Secondary school 
students visited this exhibition. The Malta Qualifications Council set up a stand during 
this exhibition. The purpose was to target secondary school students. Various information 
on Vocational Education and Training was distributed in relation to the ESF Project – 
VQPack.  In the weekend the exhibition was also open to the general public.

MQC/NCHE stand.

MQC/NCHE stand.
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MCAST Agribusiness Open Weekend 
10-12 June 2011

The Malta Qualifications Council / National Commission for Higher Education set up a 
stand to promote its services. The focus was mainly on its MQRIC services, the scholarship 
schemes and its ESF projects – VQPack and SkillsPlus. This open weekend was held at 
MCAST’s Agribusiness Institute.

Chamber of Commerce, Valletta 
2nd July 2011 

The Malta Qualifications Council / National Commission for Higher Education set up a 
stand to promote its services. The focus was mainly on its MQRIC services, the scholarship 
schemes and its ESF projects – VQPack and SkillsPlus. This fair was organised by MCAST’s 
Electrical and Electronics Engineering Institute and students from this Institute as well as 
members of the general public visited this fair.

Ms Debbie Lora Dimech at the MQC 
stand.

The Hon. Dolores Cristina and Prof. Ing Maurice Grech were presented with an MQC 
Information Pack.
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Trade Fair, MFCC 
23 – 10 July 2011

The Malta Qualifications Council / National Commission for Higher Education set up a 
stand to promote its services. The focus was mainly on its MQRIC services, the scholarship 
schemes and its ESF projects – VQPack and SkillsPlus. During this fair the DVDs produced 
through the VQPack Project were also shown.

Education Department 
18-20 September 2011

The Malta Qualifications Council / National Commission for Higher Education set up a 
stand to promote its services. The focus was mainly on its MQRIC services, the scholarship 
schemes and its ESF project – VQPack.  This stand was visited by staff from the Education 
Department and the general public. 

MQC/NCHE stands.
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KSU University of Malta Fresher’s week, University Campus, Imsida 
3-7 October 2011

The Malta Qualifications Council / National Commission for Higher Education set up a 
stand to promote its services. The focus was mainly on its MQRIC services, the scholarship 
schemes and its ESF projects – VQPack and SkillsPlus. 

FHRD National Annual Conference and Training Fair, Intercontinental Hotel, 
St Julians 
14 October 2011

The Malta Qualifications Council / National Commission for Higher Education set up 
a stand to promote its MQRIC services as well as to showcase the products produced 
through its two ESF Projects – VQPack and SkillsPlus. Around 100 participants attended 
this fair.   

MCAST Student’s Fair
November 2011

The Malta Qualifications Council / National Commission for Higher Education set up a 
stand to promote its ESF projects as well as its MQRIC services.

Sixth Forms Gozo Fair, Rabat 
9th November 2011

The Malta Qualifications Council / National Commission for Higher Education set up 
a stand to promote its MQRIC services as well as to showcase the products produced 
through its two ESF Projects – VQPack and SkillsPlus. Ms Valerie Attard, Communications 
Manager was responsible for setting up the MQC stand.

Rotta EU: 07-13, Malta College of Arts, Science and Technology, Main Campus 
26-27 November 2011

This event was organised by the Planning and Priorities Coordination Division (PPCD), 
Office of the Prime Minister. This event took the form of animated coach tours which 
visited a number of EU projects which were co-financed under the European Regional 
Development Fund, the Cohesion Fund and the European Social Fund.  

The Malta Qualifications Council was invited to participate n this event and it set up a stand 
at MCAST’s Main Campus with information on its ESF Project – VQPack. A power-point 
presentation was also prepared for the participants who were given the presentation upon 
aligning from the coach. This was an excellent opportunity to show-case the deliverables 
of this project.   

MQC/NCHE stands.
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Ms Debbie Lora Dimech, Commission Officer, National Commission for Higher Education 
and Ms Valerie Attard, Communications Manager, Malta Qualifications Council were 
responsible for setting up MQC’s stand. Around 100 participants visited the stand during 
these days. 

Student Information Days, University of Malta 
28-29 November 2011

On Monday 28th November and Tuesday 29th November the National Commission for 
Higher Education, the Malta Qualifications Council, the EUROPASS Centre in Malta and 
the European Union Programmes Agency in cooperation with KSU held 6 information 
sessions at the KSU Common Room. These information sessions aimed at providing 
students with broad information on funding opportunities in three broad areas:

The ‘Study!’ session covered scholarship and funding schemes to study in Malta or abroad 
at Bachelor, Master or Doctorate level.

The ‘Go abroad!’ session provided information on mobility programmes and scholarships, 
that allow students to go abroad for a whole programme or just a short period of time.

The ‘Get involved’ session offered information on how to get funding for projects, seminars 
or conferences in Malta or abroad.

The information sessions provided in depth and face-to-face information and guidance to 
50 students on funding opportunities offered by the Government of Malta or managed by 
the EUPA as well as on the EUROPASS transparency instruments.

These sessions were organised by Ms Christine Scholz, National Commission for 
Higher Education, Mr Silvano Cristauro, Europass Coordinator and Ms Valerie Attard, 
Communications Manager, Malta Qualifications Council.  

YEP, Mediterranean Conference Centre
December 2011

The Malta Qualifications Council / National Commission for Higher Education participated 
in this fair to promote its MQRIC services and Europass. This fair was targeted at youths.

Websites

MQC/NCHE is responsible for the following websites

Malta Qualifications Council www.mqc.gov.mt
National Commission for Higher Education www.nche.gov.mt
ReferNet Malta www.refernet.org.mt 
EQAVET Project www.eqavetmalta.org.mt
ECVET Project www.ecvetmalta.org.mt
Europass www.europassmalta.org.mt 
INLearning Project www.inlearning.eu 

It is also responsible for the MQC/NCHE sections on the Ministry’s website www.meef.
gov.mt. All websites are mantained inhouse.   

Mr Silvano Cristauro 
at the MQC/NCHE Stand. 
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Publications
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Participation in the Media

The MQC/NCHE has kept an ongoing communications 

strategy to keep all stakeholders including the general 

public well-informed about all its activities. This was 

done primarily through its NCHE and its MQC websites 

as well as through its project websites. MQC/NCHE also 

participated in numerous TV and Radio Programmes. In 

2011 MQC/NCHE participated in over 100 TV and Radio 

Programmes. These information slots primarily focused 

on the 2 ESF projects – VQPack and SkillsPlus as well as 

on its MQRIC services.  

TV Programme Topics Discussed
Station Name

One  Kalamita  Malta Qualifications Framework / ESF Projects – SkillsPlus, VQPack

Net   It-Tnejn li Huma Malta Qualifications Framework / ESF Projects - SkillsPlus, VQPack

Net Malta Ilejla Malta Qualifications Framework / ESF Projects- SkillsPlus, VQPack

PBS  Sellili Malta Qualifications Framework / ESF Projects- SkillsPlus, VQPack

PBS Bon©u Malta Qualifications Framework / ESF Projects- SkillsPlus, VQPack
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The MQC/NCHE also produced a number 

of short video clips.  These clips were 

produced as part of the European Social 

Fund projects – SkillsPlus and VQPack. 

A total of 18 clips were produced. 

After these clips were produced short 

30 seconds TV adverts were produced. 

These adverts were aired on PBS.  

Radio Station Programme Name Topics Discussed

Calypso Breakfast Show ESF Projects - SkillsPlus, VQPack / MQRIC

RTK G˙alina Ilkoll ESF Projects- SkillsPlus, VQPack / MQRIC

One Breakfast Show – Arthur Caruana ESF Projects - SkillsPlus, VQPack / MQRIC 

One G˙alik One ESF Projects- SkillsPlus, VQPack / MQRIC

Radio 101 Marbeck Spiteri – Magazine 101 ESF Projects - SkillsPlus, VQPack / MQRIC

Campus FM PriΩma ESF Projects- SkillsPlus, VQPack / MQRIC

Radju Malta Familja Wa˙da - Lilian Maestre ESF Projects - SkillsPlus, VQPack / MQRIC
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Bolstering Education in Malta through restructuring and empowerment 
EUPA Study Visit – 11 May 2011

11 participants took part in this study visit which was organised by the European Union 
Programmes Agency (EUPA). These participants comprised of education and vocational 
training specialists. The participants were briefed about the role, functions and services that 
MQC/NCHE offers including its MQRIC services.  The participants were accompanied by 
Mr Antonio Olivari and Mr Reinhard Attard, EUPA officials. The participants were also 
given an overview of the Maltese Education System. 

Study Visits to MQC/NCHE

The Process of Defining Qualifications  
Ms Ooana Danila, University of Alexandru Ioan Cuza, Romania 
16 June 2011

Ms Danila was given an overview of the work and functions of the Malta Qualifications 
Council with particular reference to the Malta Qualifications Framework and the 
Referencing Process. This visit was organised by Ms Valerie Attard, Communications 
Manager, MQC. 

Mr Richard Curmi addressing 
the foreign participants.
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MEDE male and female football teams’ visit to Cyprus  
14th-18th  July 2011

Both MEDE male and female football teams took part in two respective tournaments 
in Cyprus.

The male football team played two matches, one against a Cypriot team made up 
of teachers and the opponents for the second game included lawyers and managers.  
Before both matches, the opponents were given brochures promoting the Maltese 
islands, a small memento and a banner with the Maltese flag.   The MEDE male football 
team won both matches. The first match ended 6-3 with goals coming from Stefan 
Sultana (2), Paul Zammit, Ivan Pace, Julian Briffa and William Borg.   The second match 
played against a selection of lawyers and managers ended 7-3, with goals coming from 
Paul Zammit (2), Stefan Sultana, Carl Camilleri, William Borg, Julian Briffa and David 
Fenech.  The MEDE male football team were the overall winners of the tournament.  
Mr Alan Cauchi, Malta Qualifications Council was the team official for the MEDE male 
football team.

At the same time, the MEDE female football team played against Apollon Limassol in 
a different venue where they drew 6-6 after normal time.  The scorers for the MEDE 
female football team were Valentine Damaris and Therese Briffa (4).  Mr Edmond 
Caruana was the team official for the MEDE female football team. Before the match, 
the opponents were given brochures promoting the Maltese islands, a small memento 
and a banner with the Maltese flag.

Social 
Activities

9th August 2011 
Ms Jane Nind’s Baby Shower
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11 July 2011 
MQC/NCHE BBQ 

at MQC/NCHE Premises
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Staff of NCHE/MQC

International Activities

National Activities

Participation in National Fairs/Festivals

EQF/NQF Consultation Process Activities

Publications

Publicity Boards/Banners

Websites

Current EU Projects

New International Projects

Participation on Radio Programmes 

Participation in TV Programmes

Inclusion in Printed Media

MQRIC Qualifications to Assess

MQRIC Qualifications Assessed

15

50

30

15

5

30

5

7

16

4

Over 70 

Over 50

Over 50

7575

5600

NCHE/MQC Achievements in Numbers
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Financial Statements

NATIONAL COMMISSION FOR HIGHER EDUCATION
Report of the Commission

For the year ended 31st December 2011

The Commission presents the report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011.

Commission Members:

As in accordance with the Government Gazette of the 25th November 2008, the Prime Minister has approved the 

appointment of the National Commission for Higher Education (NCHE) for the period of three years with effect from 

the 3rd November 2008 as follows:

Dr. Philip von Brockdorff - Chairperson

Mr. Alex Manche - Deputy Chaiperson

Professor Josef Bonnici - Member

Professor John Portelli - Member

Associate Professor Grace Grima - Member

Dr. Jennifer Cassingena Harper- Member

Dr. Anna Mifsud Bonnici- Member

During the year 2011, Dr. James Calleja was appointed as the Chairman of the Commission while Dr. Philip von 

Brockdorff was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the National Commission for Higher Education.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The National Commission for Higher Education is an institution established under the Education Act (Act No. XIII of 

2006).

The Commission works to promote furtherance and higher education to empower all students with knowledge and skills 

to meet education requirements as requested by government. The Commission supports all stakeholders with research, 

data and information about the sector, develops a national strategy for further and higher education and prepares key 

performance indicators and benchmarking the sector against international developments.

The commission changed its premises during the year 2011 and moved from the Malta Qualifications Council office in 

Santa Lucia to Santa Venera.

RESULTS

During the year under review the Commission made a surplus of Eur 86,037. The results for the year are set out in the 

Inflow and Outflow Account on page 88.
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DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO THE AUDITORS

So far as the Commission Members are aware all relevant information has been brought to the attention of the 

Commissions’ auditors.

Auditors
Messrs. PKF (Malta) eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

On behalf of the Commission,

______________________  ______________________

Dr. James Calleja Dr. Philip von Brockdorff

Chairman  Chief Executive Officer

Date: 2nd March 2012
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NATIONAL COMMISSION FOR HIGHER EDUCATION
Commission Members’ Responsibilities

For the year ended 31st December 2011

The Commission members are required to prepare financial statements of National Commission for Higher Education 

(NCHE) for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Commission as at the end 

of the financial year and of the surplus or deficit of the Commission for that year in accordance with the requirements 

of International Financial Reporting Standards.

In preparing such financial statements, Commission members are required to:

• Adopt the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Commission will continue in 

operation;

• Select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently from one accounting year to another;

• Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• Account for income and charges relating to the accounting year on the accruals basis; and

• Value separately the components of asset and liability items on a prudent basis.

The Commission members are responsible for keeping proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable 

accuracy, at any time, the financial position of the Commission and to enable them to ensure that the financial 

statements have been properly prepared.

The Commission members are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Commission and hence for taking 

reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Commission members, through management, are responsible to ensure that the Commission establishes and 

maintains internal control to provide reasonable assurance with regard to reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness 

and efficiency of operations and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Management is responsible, together with the Commission members, to establish a control environment and maintain 

policies and procedures to assist in achieving the objective of ensuring, as far as possible, the orderly and efficient 

conduct of the Commission’s business. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining controls pertaining 

to the Commission’s objective of preparing financial statements and managing risks that may give rise to material 

misstatements in those financial statements. In determining which controls to implement to prevent and detect fraud, 

management consider the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

______________________  ______________________

Dr. James Calleja  Dr. Philip von Brockdorff

Chairman  Chief Executive Officer

Date: 2nd March 2012
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NATIONAL COMMISSION FOR HIGHER EDUCATION
Independent Auditor’s Report

For the year ended 31st December 2011

We have audited the accompanying Statement of Financial Position of the National Commission for Higher Education 

(NCHE), for the year ended 31st December 2011, and the related Inflow and Outflow Account and Statement of Cash 

Flow for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Commission’s Board members. 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

COMMISSION MEMBERS’ RESPONSIBILITY

The Commission is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining 

internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making 

accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We have conducted our 

audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 

are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the Commission’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 

order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion in the effectiveness of the Commission’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 

of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 

the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Commission as at 31st 

December 2011, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended. The financial statements 

have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

_______________________________

PKF (Malta)
Certified Public Accountants Registered Auditors
35, Mannarino Road,

Birkirkara BKR 9080

Malta

Date: 2nd March 2012
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NATIONAL COMMISSION FOR HIGHER EDUCATION
Inflow and Outflow Account

For the year ended 31st December 2011

   2011 2010

  Notes EUR EUR

Inflows

Government Contribution  272,832 248,500

Government Contribution in Relation to Capital Expenditure 1 31,221 20,806

Gain on Disposal  - 243

Other Income  5,478 -

   309,531 269,549

Outflows

Administrative and Other Expenses 2 (223,494) (192,086)

Surplus for the year 1 86,037 77,463
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NATIONAL COMMISSION FOR HIGHER EDUCATION
Statement of Financial Position

As at 31st December 2011

   2011 2010

  Notes EUR EUR

ASSETS

Non-Current Assets

Property, Plant & Equipment 3 40,889 37,322

Current Assets

Other Receivables 4 5,478 -

Cash and Cash Equivalents 5 173,940 83,175

   179,418 83,175

Total Assets  220,307 120,497

CAPITAL AND LIABILITY

Capital

Accumulated Surplus 8 164,421 78,384

Current Liabilities

Trade and Other Payables 6 33,742 20,706

Non-Current Liabilities

Capital Grant 7 22,144 21,407

Total Liabilities  55,886 42,113

Total Capital & Liabilities  220,307 120,497

These financial statements have been approved, signed and authorised for issue on the 2nd March 2012.

______________________  ______________________

Dr. James Calleja Dr. Philip von Brockdorff

Chairman  Chief Executive Officer
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NATIONAL COMMISSION FOR HIGHER EDUCATION
Statement of Cash Flow

For the year ended 31st December 2011

   2011 2010

  Notes EUR EUR

Cash flows from Operating Activities

Surplus for the year  86,037 77,463

Adjustment for:

Depreciation  18,745 15,915

Government Contribution in Relation to Capital

Expenditure Transferred to Income and Expenditure  (31,221) (20,806)

Loss/(Gain) on Disposal  12,476 (243)  

   86,037 72,329

(Increase)/Decrease in Other Receivables  (5,478) 3,500

Increase/(Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables  10,206 (342)

Net cash from Operating Activities  90,765 75,487

Cash flows from Investing Activities

Payments to Acquire Property, Plant & Equipment  (34,788) (1,500)

Proceeds from Disposal of Motor Vehicle  - 5,134

   55,977 79,121

Cash flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from Government Contribution in Relation to

Capital Assets  34,788 1,500 

Net increase in Cash and Cash equivalents  90,765 80,621

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the start of the year  83,175 2,554

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the end of the year 5 173,940 83,175
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NATIONAL COMMISSION FOR HIGHER EDUCATION
Accounting Policies

For the year ended 31st December 2011

Principal Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below:

a. Statement of Compliance

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. The financial 
statements have been drawn up on a going concern basis, which assumes that the Commission will continue to be 
financed out of public funds for the foreseeable future.

b. Basis of Preparation

The financial statements are presented in Euro and are prepared on the historical cost basis. The preparation of 
financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimate and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

c. Income and Expenditure Recognition

Income is recognized to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Commission and the 
revenue can be reliably measured.

All income, except for Government contribution, if any, is accounted for on an accruals basis. Government contribution 
represents amounts received in terms of recurrent and capital votes. Government contribution received in respect of 
expenditure charged to the inflow and outflow account during the year has been included in the inflow and outflow 
account. The remaining balance, which is spent on the acquisition for tangible assets, is deferred and is included in the 
inflow and outflow account by installments over the expected useful lives of the related assets.

d. Government Contribution

Government Contribution represents funds receivable from the Government of Malta in accordance with the Financial 
Estimates 2011 compiled by the Ministry of Finance.

e. Property, Plant & Equipment

Value Method
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and any other costs directly attributable 
to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items 
and restoring the site on which they are located.
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NATIONAL COMMISSION FOR HIGHER EDUCATION
Accounting Policies

For the year ended 31st December 2011

Property, Plant & Equipment (Cont’d)
Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of items of 
property, plant and equipment, and major components are accounted for separately. The useful life starts when the 
asset is available for use. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

 %
Office & Kitchen Equipment 10
Furniture and Fittings 10
Air-conditioning Equipment 16.67
Motor Vehicles 20
Website and Information Tool 25
Computer Hardware & Software 25

Gains and losses on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount at the date of disposal. The gains or losses are 
recognised in the income statement as other operating income or other operating costs, respectively.

e. Impairment
At each statement of financial position, the Commission reviews the carrying amount of its assets to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset 
is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate 
of its recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss 
is recognized as income immediately.

f. Exceptional Items
Exceptional items are those that in the management’s judgment need to be disclosed by virtue of their size or incidence 
in order for the user to obtain a proper understanding of the financial information. There are no exceptional items 
during the year ending 31st December 2011.

g. Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized on the commission’s balance sheet when the commission has 
become a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Other Receivables
Other Receivables are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable 
amounts. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the 
company will not be able to collect all amounts due to the original terms of the receivables.

Trade and Other Payables
Trade and other payables are stated at cost, which approximates fair value due to the short term nature of these liabilities.

h. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and demand deposits, less any overdrawn bank balances.
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NATIONAL COMMISSION FOR HIGHER EDUCATION
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December 2011

1.  Surplus for the year

The surplus for year is stated after charging:
   2011 2010
   Eur Eur
Audit Fees  944 1,032
Depreciation  18,751 15,915
   19,695 16,947
The surplus for the year is stated after crediting:
Government Contribution in Relation to Capital Assets
Transferred to Income and Expenditure Account  31,221 20,806

2.  Administrative Expenses
    2011 2010  

   Eur Eur
Operating Expenses
Accountancy Fees  1,433 1,524
Advertising  521 3,510
Audit Fees  944 1,032
Bank Charges  108 86
Board Honoraria  4,642 20,030
Depreciation  18,751 15,915
Driver’s Expenses  2,209 2,116
Loss on disposal of fixed assets  12,470 -
Memberships  8,450 8,500
Moving Costs  4,040 -
Miscellaneous expenses  1,563 1,816
Office Stationery  2,729 474
Photocopier maintenance and toner  1,440 -
Professional Fees  504 1,200
Repairs and Servicing  3,105 2,492 
Subscriptions  381 854
Telecommunications  1,377 2,204
Travelling – Commission Members to Malta  3,954 10,519
Wages  134,341 83,161
Website Costs  497 107
   203,459 155,540
Programmes
Evaluation of Labour Force Surveys  1,286 -
Hire of Stands  375 2,673
Leasing of Equipment  - 1,469
Local Meetings and Conferences  597 6,638
Matsec Project  1,000 -
NCHE Events  1,571 -
Profiling of Sixth Form Students  3,031 -
Publications  - 14,060
Travelling – Conferences and Initiatives  12,17 11,706
   223,494 192,086
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NATIONAL COMMISSION FOR HIGHER EDUCATION
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December 2011

3. Property Plant and Equipment
     Computer
 Office &  Air-  Hardware Website &
 Kitchen  Furniture conditioning Motor and Information
 Equipment & Fittings Equipment Vehicles Software Tool TOTAL

 Eur Eur Eur Eur Eur Eur Eur
Cost
01st Jan 11 6,287 29,378 13,020 - 20,408 20,306 89,399

Additions 4,793 2,249 - 19,005 7,151 1,590 34,788

Disposals (1,356) (12,074) (13,020) - (1,386) - (27,836)

31st Dec 11 9,724 19,553 - 19,005 26,173 21,896 96,351

Depreciation
01st Jan 11 2,228 11,207 8,676 - 20,189 9,777 52,077

Charge 972 1,955 - 3,801 6,543 5,474 18,745

Disposals (542) (4,756) (8,676) - (1,386) - (15,360)

31st Dec 11 2,658 8,406 - 3,801 25,346 15,251 55,462

NBV
31st Dec 11 7,066 11,147 - 15,204 827 6,645 40,889

31st Dec 10 4,059 18,171 4,344 - 219 10,529 37,322

The Property Plant and Equipment amounts represent the cost of assets purchased by the Commission and exclude assets purchased 

by other Government entities and being used by the Commission, since these assets have not yet been formally transferred to the 

Commission.

4. Other Receivables
     2011 2010
     Eur Eur
Other Receivables     5,478 -

5. Cash and Cash Equivalents    2011 2010
     Eur Eur
Cash at bank and in hand     173,940 83,175
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NATIONAL COMMISSION FOR HIGHER EDUCATION
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December 2011

6. Trade & Other Payables

   2011 2010

   Eur Eur

Trade and Other Payables  12,436 -

Deferred Government Contribution for Capital Expenditure (note 7)  18,745 15,915

Accruals  2,561 4,791  

   33,742 20,706

7. Capital Grant

   2011 2010

   Eur Eur

Deferred Government Contribution for Capital Expenditure  40,889 37,322

Less: Amounts to be transferred to Income and Expenditure Account

within one year (note 6)  (18,745) (15,915)

   22,144 21,407

8. Accumulated Surplus

   2011 2010

   Eur Eur

At 1 January  78,384 921

Surplus for the year  86,037 77,463

At 31 December  164,421 78,384

9. Staff Costs

   2011 2010

   EUR EUR

Salaries and wages  124,052 76,724

Social security costs  10,289 6,437

   134,341 83,161

Number of employees  12 7

10. Comparative Information

Certain comparative information has been reclassified to conform to the current’s year disclosure for the purpose of 

fairer presentation.




